

Payouts for Perils

How Insurance Can Radically Improve Emergency Aid

Theodore Talbot, Stefan Dercon, and Owen Barder

Summary

Millions of people face hazards like cyclones and drought every day. International aid to deal with disasters after they strike is generous, but it is unpredictable and fragmented, and it often fails to arrive when it would do the most good. We must stop treating disasters like surprises. Matching finance to planning today will save lives, money, and time tomorrow.

The Center for Global Development gratefully acknowledges support for this work from the UK Department for International Development and UBS. This work does not necessarily reflect their views.

Theodore Talbot, Stefan Dercon, and Owen Barder. *Payouts for Perils: How Insurance Can Radically Improve Emergency Aid.* Washington: Center for Global Development, 2017. www.cgdev.org/node/3125196

Contents

We Can Radically Improve Emergency Aid 1
Disasters Undermine Development 10
Aid Is Generous but Flawed 21
The Cost of Treating Disasters Like Surprises
From Funding to Finance
Scaling Up Predictable Aid 46
The Benefits of Predictability
Design Principles
Making Risk Finance Work
Four Actions to Make Payouts Predictable
Conclusion
References
Working Group
Annex A: Funding Instruments
Annex B: The Insurability of Disaster Aid

We Can Radically Improve Emergency Aid

Millions of people face hazards like cyclones and drought every day. International aid to deal with disasters after they strike is generous, but it is unpredictable and fragmented, and it often fails to arrive when it would do the most good. We must stop treating disasters like surprises. Matching finance to planning today will save lives, money, and time tomorrow.

Last year, natural disasters—earthquakes, storms, floods, extreme temperatures, and epidemics affected more than 83 million people in middle- and low-income countries. These are personal tragedies that tear families apart, uproot communities, and destroy livelihoods. And they are international catastrophes that can undermine economic growth, drive mass displacement, and add to regional insecurity.

> The effects of disasters are shocking but not unpredictable. We must stop treating them like surprises.

This is a large and growing development challenge. It threatens our ability to meet the shared commitments of the Sustainable Development Goals. And it unfolds against a backdrop of rising needs but constrained resources. The most conservative estimate is that OECD donors spent over \$2 billion a year on average between 2010 and 2015 on the consequences of natural disasters. But there are crucial failures in how this assistance is deployed.



More Natural Disasters, Mostly in Poorer Countries

Center for Global Development

The effects of disasters are shocking—but they are not unpredictable. We know that disasters are getting worse as a result of climate change and accelerating urbanisation that put more people in harm's way. We know that it is the poorest and most vulnerable people in the poorest and most vulnerable countries who are most affected and least able to cope. And we know that governments and agencies need immediate, guaranteed funding in the aftermath of disaster.

So why do we keep treating disasters like surprises? Most response is funded when needs are acute, rather than when money would do the most good. It would have cost \$5 million to contain Ebola after it was detected in West Africa in 2014; eight months later, the figure was \$1 billion. [1] Planning ahead is difficult because budgets are uncertain and funding is promised but often does not arrive. Despite urgent warnings of food insecurity in Somalia in 2010, donors waited eleven months to scale up assistance. [2] Support is fragmented, gumming up delivery with red tape or bypassing national authorities entirely. Haiti's government managed just \$1 in every \$100 of emergency aid provided by donors after the 2010 earthquake. [3]

We can do better. Innovative programs in the Caribbean, the Pacific, and Africa enable governments buy insurance that pays out faster and more transparently than most international assistance. Multilateral lenders have developed concessional loans to provide urgent liquidity in response to pre-identified risks. These innovations and others show how we can save lives, money, and time. But this speed and predictability is conspicuous mainly by its absence. Analysis presented in this report finds that only 10 percent of emergency aid spent between 2010 and 2015 was attached to predictable future emergencies in advance so it could be delivered reliably and quickly when risks materialised.

Our working group proposes two key innovations.

Just as donors have innovated by learning to provide concessional loans, guarantees, and equity, they can also provide concessional insurance.

- Pivot existing funding to enable frontline governments to pre-enroll for quick-fire support (including lending) against predictable future costs. The government of Malawi mobilised concessional lending from the World Bank in five months after devastating floods in 2015. That is much faster than most development loans, but much slower than would minimise suffering and expense by responding quickly and in full.
- 2. Transfer risk to the insurance sector to create certainty (and make donor funds accessible to frontline humanitarian agencies) where no pool of money is available. Premiums are the price of making sure we have funding when we need it. Just as donors have innovated by learning to provide concessional loans, guarantees, and equity, they can also provide concessional insurance.

Relying on ex-post aid tomorrow to tackle problems we can anticipate today is a fundamental mismatch of tool and purpose. Like eating steak with a spoon, you can do it—but it's slow, difficult, and messy.

Relying on ex-post aid tomorrow to tackle problems we can anticipate today is a fundamental mismatch of tool and purpose. Like eating steak with a spoon, you can do it—but it's slow, difficult, and messy. The consequences of this mismatch are symptomatic of a system that can spend money on response but not on planning or prevention. Calling for donors to simply spend more money without calling for smarter design would be like solving the problem by handing out more spoons.

What will change if we apply insurance principles to contract for emergency aid in advance? Frontline governments will have reliable, pooled funding attached to contracts that pay out when disasters hit or in time for hazards to be tackled more cheaply. Donors will be able to cover more risk, more efficiently. Agencies will spend more time on reducing vulnerability and preparing for disasters—and less time fundraising or running perpetual operating deficits. Most important, we will work together far more effectively to protect families whose ability to cope has been stretched to breaking point by risks beyond their control and for which they are not to blame.

That is the vision. This report sets out why we must realise it-and how we can.



Stefan Dercon Working Group Co-Chair Chief Economist of the Department for International Development and Professor of Economic Policy, University of Oxford



Owen Sance

Owen Barder Working Group Co-Chair Vice President, Director for Europe, and Senior Fellow, Center for Global Development

Actions

Policymakers recognise the benefits of responding quickly and effectively to emergencies. Scaling up pre-agreed aid has been held back by uncertainty that payouts will be used well and by worries about undermining incentives to manage disaster risk, while engagement with the insurance sector has raised concerns about whether the public sector can be an informed buyer.

The working group recommends four actions to overcome these stumbling blocks:

- Pivot funding. Predictable funding for disaster response is the most critical resource for dealing with disasters. Funding windows and concessional loans for emergency response exist, but these funds are generally not committed in advance for specific risks, and so spending cannot be planned and response is delayed. Authorities should be able to pre-enroll in existing windows for guaranteed funding against specific future risks.
- 2. Reward planning, resilience, and equity. We can realise a dividend from agreeing money in advance by tying more reliable funding to requirements for investments in risk management and planning. Donors and national authorities might invest in flood defenses, for example, while agencies agree to pre-position emergency supplies and coordinate disaster plans with governments. In parallel, we must demand that support is fairly and transparently distributed, leaving nobody behind. Similar hazards affect people differently depending on their political power and voice. Pre-agreement creates a novel way to incent more equitable, transparent response.
- 3. **Give technical advice.** Agencies and governments need technically accurate, genuinely independent, and strictly confidential advice to get a clear-eyed view of their potential losses—and the costs for insurance against them. This risk modeling expertise lies with the insurance sector. It has been forced to develop and hone it by strong regulatory requirements—and to avoid bankruptcy. Donors should support a sophisticated advisory facility to deliver the public good of neutral, actionable advice. The facility must have ironclad ethical walls separating it from insurers who might then underwrite risks.
- 4. Catalyse the market. Donors can put money on call to deal with relatively rare and expensive hazards by transferring risk to insurers. Using brokers to get the best deal, benefiting from competition among insurers, and using technically astute estimates of the underlying hazards and exposure will enable the public sector to provide concessional insurance contracts to frontline countries and frontline agencies for the right price. Each dollar of scarce development aid can then cover a

larger volume of potential losses, much as health insurance pays for care that is many times the cost of any single premium payment. We can sharpen incentives to manage risks by building requirements for investing in resilience and planning into these contracts.

Pre-agreed funding and concessional insurance would not undermine national governments' responsibility to govern fairly and deal with risk responsibly. Instead, they would create a platform for better collaboration among donors, agencies, and frontline governments.

Each of these four innovations is set out in detail at the end of the report, together with specific actions donors, governments, agencies, and insurers should take to bring about these reforms.

Our Focus: Public Support for Disaster Response

Donors like the government of Japan, national governments like Ethiopia's, and frontline agencies like the International Rescue Committee or World Food Programme—a constellation of actors we refer to collectively as the **global public sector**—respond to disasters ranging from civil war to tsunamis.

These emergency responses differ in four broad ways: **who** pays, governments or private donors; **where** the money goes, to relatively richer countries or relatively poorer ones; **what** kind of emergencies they respond to (natural disasters like epidemics or tropical storms are generally easier to predict—and so to arrange financing for in advance—than political violence like civil war); and **which** stage of emergency the response finances: prevention, immediate response, or the long-term challenge of rebuilding.

This work focuses on enabling more effective response by the global public sector to principally natural disasters in middle-income countries and below. [4] The figure below provides a stylised view of this landscape, with the areas of focus shaded. ("Complex emergencies" is a term of art in humanitarian response, referring to crises in which political and natural causes interact.)

Our Focus: Disaster Aid from Donors



Estimating what donors spend tackling disasters is tricky. As we set out below, \$1.6 billion a year on average since 2000 is the most conservative figure. This pales in comparison to private contributions. American NGOs, for example, received over \$24 billion in private support in 2013, more than eight times the \$2.8 billion they got from USAID. [5]

So does focusing on how donors spend money after emergencies miss the point? It would be good if more private donors supported the kind of smart risk financing we propose here; it would help liberate NGOs from competing for visibility and cash to deliver on their core, lifesaving missions. But public officials do not determine how private citizens or foundations spend their money. We focus on policy innovations that are within the public sector's control, in the hope that reform by the global public sector will catalyse broader change in private giving.

Smarter financing may help prevent disasters from becoming stubborn and long-term development challenges.

Regardless of whether assistance flows from tax receipts or private donations, it is used to finance response to a range of emergencies. These might be *sudden-onset* shocks, like the Indian Ocean tsunami of 2004, or more protracted challenges. [6] Kenya's *Dadaab* refugee camp, for example, has operated continuously for more than two decades. There is certainly enormous scope for reform in how we support long-term challenges like mass displacement, but that is not the focus here. This report is about how to improve disaster

response. The problems are not disconnected: smarter financing will enable more effective response. That, in turn, may help prevent disasters from becoming stubborn and long-term development challenges.

How We Worked

This work builds on a rigorous scientific literature about how we can match financing to purpose to make response and risk management better by making funding after disasters predictable. It draws on a high-level dialogue between a working group convened by the Center for Global Development at its office in London, composed of senior figures from donor agencies, frontline humanitarian agencies, academic institutions, and the insurance sector.

The working group's analysis and this report were substantially guided by two pieces of prior analysis. The first is *Dull Disasters? How Planning Ahead Will Make A Difference*, a book-length examination of the problems inherent in existing funding models for disasters and how smarter financing can help to catalyse better planning. It was written by working group co-chair Dr. Stefan Dercon and working group member Dr. Daniel Clarke.

The second is a framing paper prepared for the working group by the Center for Global Development, "Payouts for Perils: Why Disaster Aid is Broken, and How Catastrophe Insurance Can Help to Fix It," by Theodore Talbot and working group co-chair Owen Barder. This report draws on analysis in that framing paper and cites from it without specific attribution.

The group's timeline involved three, focused meetings held in CGD's office in London. The first, on July 1, 2016, clarified the problems with existing disaster response, drilling down from the broad question of humanitarian emergencies to focus on risk financing for natural disasters. The second, on September 9, 2016, articulated solutions to the problems and mandated the secretariat to work through them, using data and analysis summarised in this report. In the third and final meeting, on December 9, 2016, participants agreed on recommendations to take these solutions to action.

This work benefits from contributions and revisions set out by the working group, but it should not be construed as expressing members' individual opinions; all discussions were on the Chatham House rule. Working group members and outside experts we consulted are listed in the end matter. Theodore Talbot was the report's lead author and analyst, with contributions from Owen Barder and Stefan Dercon. Caitlin McKee provided excellent research support, and Emily Schabacker provided invaluable editorial assistance. The digital version of the report and dynamic charts were built by John Osterman.

The Center for Global Development gratefully acknowledges support for this work from the UK Department for International Development and UBS. This work does not necessarily reflect their views.

Notes

[1] Roache, et al., 2014.

[4] To put this in context, the median upper-middle-income country (a taxonomy based on GDP per capita) is the Dominican Republic, while Vietnam is the median lower-middle-income country, and Ethiopia is the median low-income country.

[5] United States Agency for International Development (USAID), 2015.

[6] Of course, the consequences of sudden-onset emergencies can continue for many years. Post-tsunami recovery and reconstruction, for example, was a long-term development challenge in Sri Lanka, which was also affected by an ongoing civil war.

^[2] Checchi and Robinson, 2013.

^[3] Ramachandran and Walz, 2012.

Disasters Undermine Development

Disasters, in some circles, lack the cachet of other kinds of emergencies. The Indian Ocean tsunami of 2004 was devastating, and it caused long-term hardship for many, but happened once in living memory. Deadly civil wars, in contrast, seem omnipresent.

In fact, natural hazards ranging from storms to pandemics are extremely **expensive**, imposing large, recurrent, and sometimes permanent costs on vulnerable populations. They are highly **re-gressive**, disproportionately affecting the poorest countries and the poorest people in those countries. They are **dangerous** because they contribute to regional instability and drive mass displacement. And they are **getting worse**, as climate change creates more violent weather and urbanisation puts more people in harm's way. (Some prefer the term "natural hazard" to "natural disaster" to reflect the fact that disasters are the interaction of natural risks and human causes, like poor governance, inadequate political accountability, or poverty.)

National boundaries and border walls will not contain disease outbreaks. A severe epidemic could wipe out up to 5 percent of global income at once.

Disasters deserve our attention for two reasons: first, because of the need to alleviate great human suffering when they happen, and, second, because we must confront and reduce the longterm consequences they inflict on vulnerable households and frontline countries. Better response is a public good in the classical sense, providing shared benefits. National boundaries and border walls will not contain disease outbreaks, for example, and a severe epidemic could wipe out up to 5 percent of global income at once. (To put this in context, it is estimated that global warming will ultimately cost up to 2 percent of global income annually.) So in addition to being a smart allocation of scarce development capital and effort, doing more to contain pandemics and other hazards generates benefits far beyond the vulnerable populations themselves.

Prearranging funding and using concessional insurance will not lower the risk of natural hazards. But these innovations will enable planning ahead, save lives by expediting response, make scarce aid funding stretch farther to deal with more risks, and sharpen—rather than blunt—incentives to reduce vulnerability.

Expensive

Disaster risk is a function of the underlying **hazard** (the chance a storm will make landfall), **exposure** (the mortality and losses in coastal and inland communities when it does), and coping **capacity** (our ability to deal with losses). Risk, when realised, carries its most obvious costs at impact: in 2015, international appeals ranged from more than \$533 million to tackle the consequences of a devastating earthquake in Nepal, the largest appeal recorded by the UN's Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UN OCHA), to \$1 million to assist the Caribbean island of Dominica after tropical storm Erika made landfall there, the smallest appeal that year. [1]

Disasters caused more than \$37 billion worth of damage and affected nearly 84 million people.

Support from donors helps deal with the immediate consequences of these shocks but covers only a tiny share of overall losses. UN OCHA reported \$677 million in funding for appeals to deal with natural disasters in 2015. Data from EM-DAT, a database of natural disasters maintained by a team at Université Catholique de Louvain, indicate that disasters caused more than \$37 billion worth of damage and affected nearly 84 million people in low- and middle-income countries the same year. [2]

Disaster losses can make poor households *permanently* worse off by undermining their capacity to recover.

Focusing on disasters' immediate impact can distract us from their longer-term costs. These are often larger and may be more pernicious because they generate less media attention and donor effort. Disaster losses can make poor households *permanently* worse off by undermining their capacity to recover. Droughts, for example, force Ethiopian farmers to sell off livestock en masse. These are valuable assets: in Ethiopia, mature bulls sold for over \$560 in some local markets in early 2017, in a country where average incomes are about \$620 a year. [3] So droughts effectively compel families to trade in their savings at pennies on the dollar, an example of how disasters leave households impoverished long after they "end." [4]

The top 1 percent of the most extreme events lowers economic growth rates by over 6 percent amongst low- and middle-income countries. This effect operates at the level of whole economies. The top 1 percent of the most extreme events lowers economic growth rates by over 6 percent amongst low- and middle-income countries. (The penalty increases more than proportionally: disasters that are twice as violent more than double the cost in terms of economic growth.) [5] This is a huge friction. A country with income per capita growing at 10 percent sees incomes double every seven years, a jump that would make Bangladesh's average standard of living roughly the same as Bolivia's. [6] That change would take a decade longer if a disaster were to lower growth to 4 percent a year.

This relationship works in both directions: the poorest countries are most vulnerable to disaster and vulnerability causes poverty when disasters hit. Figure 1-1 combines data on average incomes with the INFORM index, which estimates national vulnerability based on 89 subcomponents. The four countries that reported the deadliest disasters—Haiti, Somalia, Myanmar, and Liberia—are clustered in the top left section of the graph, reflecting the devastating 2010 earthquake, the 2010–12 drought and famine, the effects of Cyclone Nargis in 2008, and the 2014–16 Ebola outbreak, respectively.

Figure 1-1

Low-Income Countries Are More Vulnerable to Natural Disasters, and Disasters Help Keep Them Poor

Notes: Data for average number of deaths per year relative to population from EM-DAT





Center for Global Development

The link between vulnerability and poverty means that disasters also threaten to undermine the broader development agenda. Credit ratings provide a striking example. Algorithms used by agencies like Moody's to determine creditworthiness explicitly account for the potential effect of disasters. [7] Recent analysis (summarised in figure 1-2) on a select group of countries and disaster risks concludes that severe tropical cyclones, earthquakes, and floods would cause large ratings downgrades.

Figure 1-2

Disasters Lower Credit Ratings, Raising Borrowing Costs

Notes: Data from Standard & Poor's, 2015. Downgrade is the expected effect of rare and expensive "1 in 250" losses, based on geophysical models for a subset of countries. CGD analysis.



Center for Global Development

As a result, the threat of disasters raises the cost of borrowing for governments and private projects, whose ratings are typically capped by the sovereign rating of the country in which they operate. That impedes economic growth, as lower-income countries urgently need finance to invest in infrastructure, ranging from roads to electricity generation. This means disasters both raise borrowing costs today and make it more expensive to borrow to respond or rebuild after they hit. The risk is not theoretical. Storms have caused waves of defaults in the Caribbean by destroying agriculture and infrastructure for tourism, a crucial service export. Hurricane Ivan in 2004 brought about Grenada's debt restructuring after inflicting losses of more than three times GDP, and hurricanes in 2004 brought about the Dominican Republic's 2005 debt restructuring. [8]

In wealthy countries, insurance mitigates the worst effects of disasters by absorbing large, unexpected losses. But the average level of *insurance penetration* in lower-income countries remains stubbornly low. Recent analytical work conducted by Swiss Re, a major global insurance firm, compares the level of insurance premiums to the likely damage caused by natural disasters, and to a benchmark level of what penetration should be for a given level of income per head. It indicates an annual *protection gap* on the order of \$112 billion. [9]

While public and private insurance complement each other, lower-income countries lack sufficient levels of either. A commonly reported data point, for example, is that only 100 million people in developing countries are covered from weather-related risks (this figure is even lower when we account for other hazards, like earthquakes). [10] Though we can (and should) quibble about precise figures, there is broad consensus about a large and dangerous deficit in protection.

Regressive

The death toll of disasters is highly regressive, borne disproportionately by the poor.

Poorer countries have less capital and infrastructure per person than richer ones, and the cost of replacing that infrastructure is often lower. So a focus on damage or loss estimates expressed in financial terms might make us conclude that poorer countries "lose less" in the event of disaster. One crude way to avoid undervaluing losses in developing countries is to estimate the present value of income per capita lost due to lives taken. Even with this adjustment, lower incomes in developing countries mean that lives lost in rich countries dominate the chart shown in figure 1-3. But although most of the *damage* has been in rich countries, the same figure shows that most *deaths* have been in poor ones. So the death toll of disasters is highly *regressive*, borne disproportionately by the poor.

Damage Mainly in Rich Countries, Deaths Mainly in Poor Ones (1980–2015)

"Human capital loss" is estimated as number of deaths from EM-DAT (Guha-Sapir et al., 2015), times the difference between life expectancy and median age in country, times real annual income per capita. Sum of damage is in real US dollars and deaths, 1980-2015. Median age is a median-variant projection from United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2013); income per capita and life expectancy are from World Bank Group (2015). CGD analysis. 100 75 share of total (percent) 50 25 0 Damage Human Capital Losses Deaths **High income** Upper middle Lower middle Low income Center for Global Development

Poor people in poor countries are doubly jeopardised. They live in lower-income countries that are more likely to experience natural disasters, and, when disasters hit, the poor are more likely to be affected. The analysis is not new. As Amartya Sen famously observed, famines do not happen in democracies with a free press. [11] Inequalities—in political voice and financial resources—are the reasons some hazards affect specific groups within countries more gravely than others. [12]

> "In famine epidemiology, the verb to starve is transitive—like wounding or murder, it is something that people do to one another."

As Alex de Waal, a scholar of politicised conflict and member of the working group, has observed "In famine epidemiology, the verb to starve is transitive—like wounding or murder, it is something that people do to one another." [13] The Ethiopian camp at *Korem* that inspired Bob Geldof to launch the famous BandAid campaign was not only a symptom of food shortages, but also the result of a counterinsurgency operation that throttled food supplies. [14] Better institutions, higher incomes, and more accountability of the executive to the governed (through democracy) modulate the link between the two.

The statistical evidence backs up the political theory. A 70-country study of natural hazards finds that higher-income countries are not less likely to be affected by hazards—they simply do not evolve into disasters. In richer countries, better institutions, higher incomes, and more account-ability of the executive to the governed (through democracy) modulate the link between the two. [15] When disasters do materialise, the poor suffer the most. One study of data from over 180 countries over 40 years finds that a poor person is more than twice as likely to be affected by disaster, even when we account for factors like urbanisation. [16]

Dangerous

There is an intuitive link between the stress created by disasters and the incidence of conflict: resource scarcity can exacerbate cleavages among groups, sometimes resulting in violent competition. Several analyses show that natural shocks, modulated by local institutions and government capacity, can drive conflict between countries. [17] Separate research appears to confirm a link between disasters and internal conflict, mimicking the different effect that disasters have *across* richer and poorer countries and richer and poorer groups *within* countries. [18] More than half the people affected by disasters live in *fragile and conflict-affected states*, like Somalia, where the government's ability to project authority is effectively limited to areas of the capital city of Mogadishu. [19]

> In 2014 alone, more than 19 million people were newly displaced by disasters in over 100 countries, mainly because of weather-related shocks.

Events like drought and flooding also destroy people's ability to earn a living and can make them leave their homes. This drives mass displacement that contributes to regional instability and increases the shared caseload of roughly 65 million displaced people globally reported by UNHCR in 2016. [20] In 2014 alone, more than 19 million people were newly displaced by disasters in over 100 countries, mainly because of weather-related shocks. [21] As figure 1-4 shows, this was not an unusually bad year; the average annual figure is more than 25 million people since 2008. Worse yet, the burden for most of these displaced people falls on low- and middle-income countries—often exactly the places least equipped to handle more calls on strained national budgets. [22]

Figure 1-4



Disasters Displace Millions of People a Year

Pandemics are the clearest case of the dangers that lie at the intersection of natural risk and human mass movement, supplementing our moral obligation to help others with a healthy self-interest in containing their spread. Indeed, there is a complex feedback loop between disasters and epidemics: epidemics are disasters, and disasters can cause epidemics. Displacement and lack of sanitation are primary risk factors. Lack of access to clean water spreads diseases like cholera (like in Haiti in 2010), displacement is associated with a host of acute respiratory infections (like in Pakistan, following the 2005 earthquake), and malaria outbreaks happen after flooding, when pools of stagnant water become breeding grounds for mosquitoes. [23]

Getting Worse

We face a future in which more hazards will evolve into disasters. First, the share of the global population living in urban areas will double in a century, from a third in 1950 to over two-thirds by the middle of the 21st century. [24] We are projected to have 41 megacities—urban agglomerations with 10 million people or more—by 2030; these have already tripled in number since 1990. The world's urban population has more than quadrupled since just 1970. [25]

These high population densities mean hazards with the same footprints as those that now occur will affect many more people. Although rising incomes will make some communities more resilient, a greater share of urban communities will be in developing countries and so both densely packed and increasingly vulnerable. At the same time, climate change will create a mismatch between our built environments and the more violent weather it causes.

Despite pledges to tackle climate change made in Paris at the end of 2015, the stock of carbon emitted will inevitably cause warming during the 21st century, estimated at between 2°C and 4.5°C. The best-case scenario includes heavier rains in some latitudes and more droughts in sub-tropical areas, flooding due to higher sea levels, and bigger, more violent storms. Figure 1-5 shows this broad run-up in the raw count of natural disasters reported each year, and that most of the impact falls on lower-income countries.

Figure 1-5



More Natural Disasters, Mostly in Poorer Countries

In Bangladesh, a 2°C rise in temperatures is predicted to cause flooding that will lower the amount of usable land by 20 percent in a country that is already one of the world's most densely populated.

What does this shift in climate look like? In Bangladesh, a 2°C rise in temperatures is predicted to cause flooding that will lower the amount of usable land by 20 percent in a country that is already one of the world's most densely populated. [26] Droughts that previously affected Ethiopia every decade or less now occur more frequently, perhaps every two years or less. [27] The Zambezi River used to flood about every five years. Now it breaks its banks annually. [28]

Notes

[4] Dercon, 2004.

[5] Felbermayr and Gröschl, 2014.

[6] Bangladesh's 2015 Gross National Income per capita was \$3,560, compared to \$6,710 for Bolivia. World Bank, 2016.

[7] Moody's, 2016a.

[8] Moody's, 2016b.

[9] Swiss Re, 2015.

[10] BMZ, 2015.

[11] Sen, 1999.

[12] Adaman, 2012.

[13] DeWaal, 2008. See DeWaal, 1997, for an important book-length analysis.

[14] DeWaal, 2008.

[15] Kahn, 2005.

[16] Kim, 2012.

[17] Bhavnani, 2006.

[18] Nel and Righarts, 2008.

[19] Kellett and Sparks, 2012.

[20] United Nations High Commissioner For Refugees (UNHCR), 2016.

[21] Norwegian Refugee Council and Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC), 2015.

[22] Talbot and Huang, 2016.

[23] Watson, Gayer, and Connolly, 2007.

[24] United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2013.

[25] Authors' calculations and Brockerhoff, 1999.

[26] Karim and Mimura, 2008.

[27] Cai et al., 2014.

[28] Chagutah, 2006.

^[1] United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance (OCHA), 2015.

^[2] Calculated based on data from Guha-Sapir et al., 2015.

^[3] Data on cattle prices calculated from Livestock Information Network Knowledge System, 2017.

Aid Is Generous but Flawed

This section summarises two simple points arising from the working group's analysis. First, donors spend a large amount of money each year on the consequences of natural disasters (earthquakes, storms, floods, extreme temperatures, and epidemic disease outbreaks). *Response plans* that appeal for funding to confront natural emergencies provide the most conservative estimate of \$1.6 billion a year on average. Second, this money does not deliver bang for the buck, because it is only triggered by acute, visible needs, it undermines planning because it is unpredictable, and it is fragmented and sometimes incomplete (when commitments to provide funds are not followed up by disbursements).

How much do donors currently pay to deal with natural disasters? Estimates vary because disasters are long-lived, so "emergency" response outlasts the duration of the shock. That makes it difficult to bookend aid flows to, say, Vanuatu and ascribe them to the effects of Cyclone Pam. And, more generally, aid reporting is imperfect due to errors and incompleteness, either because of the difficulty of tying a multipurpose grant to a single purpose code or because the interpretation of reporting codes varies by donor.

The OECD's creditor reporting system (CRS) is a tool used by members of the Development Assistance Committee, a club of mainly rich-country donors that includes the countries that provide most global aid. The CRS provides a taxonomy: *humanitarian aid, emergency response, funding for prevention and preparedness,* and *reconstruction and relief* might collectively be called *disaster-related aid.*

Spending that plainly goes to disasters but which is not included in these codes militates against putting too much faith in any single point estimate of disaster aid spending. We know, for example, that Haiti's devastating 2010 earthquake triggered an increase in all the disaster-related budget lines. But figure 2-1 decomposes total flows based on the purposes reported by donors and shows that \$1.9 billion of the \$3.8 billion committed to Haiti that year did not fall under *any* of them.



Given reasonable omissions and overlaps, the working group used a range of plausible estimates of how much donors spend on natural-and so predictable-disasters each year. First, the UN's Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Aid provides a voluntary financial tracking service that reports a specific subset of appeals for natural disasters. The results of the analysis of those appeals, shown in figure 2-2, indicates donors allocated \$1.6 billion a year on average between 2000 and 2015 after disasters struck.

Aid Reporting Omits Relevant Flows: Haiti, Post-

At Least \$1.6 Billion a Year: Average Disaster Aid from Appeals



This plausible, episode-based correction for misreporting indicates much higher average spending levels on disasters: between \$1.6 billion and \$7.4 billion a year.

Response to UN appeals is only one, narrow filter for total spending that could reasonably be attributed to tackling hazards. Figure 2-3 supplements that narrow view by including *all* aid scored to countries in which there was, variously, any disaster reported (*Aid* | *Any*); a disaster in the top decile in terms of people affected globally or the amount of damage reported in that year (*Aid* | *World*); or a disaster that was in the top decile in a country's history in terms of either people affected or financial damage (*Aid* | *National*). This plausible, episode-based correction for misreporting indicates much higher average spending levels on disasters: between \$1.6 billion and \$7.4 billion a year.

Reasonable Definitions Suggest Higher Amounts of Spending

Notes: Data on severity of disaster definition from EM-DAT (Guha-Sapir et al., 2015). Data on aid flows disaggregated by purpose from the CRS, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2016). Includes all aid to recipients that recorded any natural disaster, a disaster in the top 10 percent of disasters globally in terms of financial or human losses, or a disaster in the top 10 percent of disasters in the country's history. CGD analysis.



Center for Global Development

Regardless of whether we use a maximal or minimal definition (only looking at appeals) of aid for disasters from the global community, the broader point is clear. Our spending on the consequences of deadly emergencies in the world's vulnerable countries is large and growing. That makes it an important component of the total emergency aid envelope, which includes humanitarian assistance alongside financing for disaster response.

Funding Arrives When Needs Are Acute

"The outbreak of a major fire is the wrong time to hold discussions on the pay of firefighters, to raise money for the fire service, or to consider fire insurance. It is too late."

A fundamental theme in the working group's findings has been that the human and financial costs of disasters go up because funding is not available when it would do the most good. "When a fire breaks out in a city, there needs to be a prompt firefighting response," writes working group member Dr. Gordon Woo, a catastrophist at Risk Management Solutions, a firm that builds mathematical models of catastrophes. "The outbreak of a major fire is the wrong time to hold discussions on the pay of firefighters, to raise money for the fire service, or to consider fire insurance. It is too late." [1] Because funding is discretionary and ad hoc, money follows, rather than leads, the most severe symptoms of a crisis. Put differently, waiting to pay for response makes response more expensive by imposing additional damage. This is one more, deadly example of the well-documented tendency for public money to flow too late to prevent the worst of a problem from arising in the first place.

The tail of Ebola deaths wagged the dog of funding.

Figure 2-4 demonstrates how this played out during the global response to the 2014 West African Ebola epidemic. This analysis, combining data on financial commitments from donors and information on new deaths each month reported by the Centers for Disease Control, suggests the tail of Ebola deaths wagged the dog of funding. By the time donors ramped up funding, the epidemic had spread sufficiently to cause many additional deaths. Funding increased when deaths increased, rather than supporting a sufficient response early on in order to prevent further infections.



Funding Follows Caseload: Ebola in West Africa, 2014

A month after Ebola was detected in Guinea in March 2014, estimates called for a modest \$5 million to contain it. Five months later, the cost of control had reached an estimated \$1 billion.

At one level, funding following need makes sense: donors provided more support as the needs became demonstrably greater. Seen in another light, it is bewilderingly inefficient. Waiting to mobilise money that would have financed containment and response enabled Ebola to spread and infect many more people, in turn causing much more suffering and requiring more resources to contain it. A month after Ebola was detected in Guinea in March 2014, estimates called for a modest \$5 million to contain it. Five months later, the cost of control had reached an estimated \$1 billion. [2]

Funding reacted to malnutrition and starvation rather than mobilising to prevent it.

Although epidemics capture our imaginations, devastating outbreaks like the 1918 global influenza pandemic are, thankfully, relatively infrequent. In terms of lives lost, famines have been more frequent in recent history, having killed an estimated 10 million people since 1970. But these *slowonset* emergencies replicate a pattern of funding that follows, rather than predicts, need. Detailed studies of the 2011 famine in Somalia, for example, suggest tardy response interacted with local political conditions to make what might have been a situation of deprivation descend into starvation. [3] Figure 2-5 tracks the estimated number of excess deaths—that is, mortality above the baseline level, and so attributable to the crisis—and suggests that funding reacted to malnutrition and starvation rather than mobilising to prevent it.

Figure 2-5



Funding Follows Deaths: Somalia, 2010–12

Notes: Data from Development Initiatives' 2013 Global Humanitarian Assistance report, based on data from the UN OCHA Financial Tracking Service (FTS), United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance (2015), and data analysis by Checchi and Robinson (2013), using original survey data from the Food Security and Nutrition Analysis Unit—Somalia (FSNAU). CGD analysis.

Center for Global Development

This happened even though early-warning systems notified the global public sector about the emergency. As one study of the crisis notes, "Between August 2010 and the declaration [of famine], the Famine Early Warning Systems Network . . . and the Somalia-focused Food Security and Nutrition Analysis Unit . . . produced 78 bulletins and undertook over 50 briefings to agencies and donors." [4] Because of this failure to act with sufficient urgency, tens of thousands of people died and hundreds of thousands of livelihoods were damaged, increasing vulnerability far into the future.

At the time of writing, in 2017, food shortages in Kenya, Somalia, South Sudan, and Yemen threaten to turn into starvation and famine. Yet again, the international community fails to mobilise the funds needed for a large-scale response.

Support Is Fragmented

An under-appreciated consequence of funding disaster response through appeals and other expost mechanisms is that a large amount of disaster-related aid is *fragmented*, characterised by many small programmes or projects. One study of decades of donor spending on disasters, for example, has found that more than 85 percent of projects during that time accounted for less than 6 percent of funding. [5] This multiplicity of programmes is expensive to coordinate, and it can deprive any single budget line of the resources necessary to make a difference.

Large disasters that attract attention and many donors have more fractured response plans.

Figure 2-6 shows the situation for some of the largest emergencies of 2015, each of which triggered *appeals* for international assistance. It also includes a measure of concentration, based on an index borrowed from industrial economics: a value of one means all support came as a single grant; values closer to zero imply many donors gave small shares each, resulting in more fractured aid. [6] As we might expect, large disasters (such as the earthquake in Nepal) that attract attention and many donors are associated with more fractured response plans; donors pay into many smaller budget lines instead of pooling funding to support larger, more coherent programmes. Fractured support is more expensive and harder to manage than unified grants, which can be funneled through a single crisis management budget.

Figure 2-6



More Donors Mean More Fragmentation

An analysis of post-disaster aid flows to Haiti has found that funding was slow to mobilise and badly coordinated, with very little national ownership.

The global response to the Haitian earthquake of 2010 is a frustrating case study of these effects. An analysis of post-disaster aid flows to Haiti has found that funding was slow to mobilise and badly coordinated, with very little national ownership. Although more than \$6 billion was spent in Haiti between 2010 and 2012, the study concludes that the country's government received just 1 percent of the emergency aid and only 15 percent of spending on longer-term relief. [7]

Incentives Are Distorted

Providing discretionary funding after a hazard hits distorts incentives in three important ways: it reduces incentives to invest in planning and in reducing vulnerability ahead of time; it reduces incentives to price the costs of response accurately; and it encourages free riding by donors.

Because financing arrives after disaster strikes, the prevailing mechanisms limit incentives to invest in reducing the costs of disasters by reducing the amount donors are able and willing to spend on mitigating risks. Figure 2-7 parses data from OECD donors and shows the small sliver of disaster-related aid that has been recorded as spent on *disaster risk reduction*; it is on the order of less than half a dollar in every (inflation-adjusted) \$100 of aid over the last 20 years.

The working group's consensus is that we should be skeptical of so precise a figure; many investments in resilience are not scored as such in the data on aid flows. Building new schools might be attributed as education spending even if the schools were more expensive because they were built to withstand earthquakes better. But even if our estimated spending on resilience were off by a factor of ten—900 percent wrong—that would imply just \$4.30 of spending on resilience in every \$100 of aid (in real terms), far lower than the returns on investment from better resilience to natural disasters.



Risk Reduction Is Underfunded

Center for Global Development

Frontline governments confront pressing social needs, like expanding access to education. This makes it difficult to invest against uncertain future costs. And because aid provides a backstop—however imperfect—when things go wrong, it tilts incentives away from spending money to reduce vulnerability. One study, for example, found that a 10 percent increase in the ratio of aid to a country's GDP in the past raised the chance of disaster by up to 5.7 percent in a large sample of lower-income countries. The interpretation is that aid crowds out incentives to invest in prevention that might otherwise keep hazards from tipping into disasters. [8] (Frontline agencies, for their part, are generally contracted to respond when disasters become acute, rather than investing in reducing vulnerability in advance.)

Because agencies know they are likely to be underfunded, they have a rational incentive to ask for more. The second distortion created by ex-post financing is the incentive to inflate estimates of loss. Humanitarian response plans (which we discuss in detail below) are a good example: donors react to plans without a commitment to meet the full funding needs. Because agencies know they are likely to be underfunded, they have a rational incentive to ask for more; and because the agency budgets may be inflated, donors have an incentive to underinvest in meeting them. Figure 2-8 highlights a growing gap between *global humanitarian appeals* and funding provided.

Figure 2-8



The Humanitarian Financing Deficit Is Growing Fast Notes: Data from the UN OCHA Financial Tracking Service (FTS), United Nations Office for

Center for Global Development

"If you received 66 cents on the dollar for every dollar of needs you set out, what would you do?"

In the decade between 2006 and 2015, appeals were, on average, two-thirds funded. While frontline agencies would certainly benefit from more money, we should be skeptical about the precision of the deficit. As one member of the working group put it, "If you received 66 cents on the dollar for every dollar of needs you set out, what would you do?" Put differently, some level of need inflation is the rational consequence of incomplete funding; incomplete funding is a rational donor reaction to need inflation. [9] Like the solution to the canonical Prisoner's Dilemma, this strategising leaves everyone worse off. This not a moral failing of hardworking humanitarians. Rather, it is symptomatic of a system that privileges response over planning.

This is a specific example of a broader set of strategic problems with ex-post aid. In particular, donors can *free ride* by waiting for others to step in. In 2015, for example, the United States gave more than three times as much as the next largest donor. [10] This is not to say other donors do not give generously. The UK, for example, has met its international commitment of spending 0.7 percent of gross national income on aid, which the United States has yet to do. But it is certainly the case that donors give unequally to disaster response, and give differently for different disasters within the rubric of disaster response. The United Nations' 2017 humanitarian appeal calls for over \$22 billion to tackle emergencies and vulnerability in more than 30 countries. Like past appeals, this is an amount that donors are not likely to be willing to pay in full.

Notes

[1] Woo, 2015.

[2] Roache, et al., 2014.

[3] Bailey, 2012.

[4] Ibid.

[5] Kellett and Caravani, 2013.

[6] The Herfindahl-Hirschman Index usually tests whether a small number of firms have too much market power. In this setting, more concentration is "better" because it is closer to a single, unified grant.

[7] Ramachandran and Walz, 2012.

[8] Raschky and Schwindt, 2016.

[9] In the language of the economics of information, this is a stable Nash equilibrium.

[10] United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance, 2015.

The Cost of Treating Disasters Like Surprises

Relying on ex-post financing imposes human and financial costs—savings we could have made by responding appropriately and on time. The working group's analysis can be distilled to an intuitive, three-part argument:

- 1. Responses are more expensive and less effective if funding depends on demonstrating losses.
- 2. Less effective response costs lives. A growing evidence base confirms that planning and early response is cheaper and saves more lives.
- 3. Investments in risk reduction drive down the need for disaster aid in the first place, and this saves money and lives in the long run.

We briefly set out below how ex-post funding fails to deliver the benefits of early response, better preparedness, and more resilience.

In the first section, we describe how risk financing for disasters will address this problem by making sure money is provided when and where it is needed—and is not caught up in the collective action problems of donors. Prearranging funding and using concessional insurance makes support predictable and so helps capture the benefits of responding early, planning ahead, and reducing future losses. Moreover, it helps donors cover more risks for the same amount of money, making support better and more efficient.

Early Response Falls between the Cracks

Drought is the obvious example of a slow-onset emergency: shifts in rainfall lead to crop failures that can be anticipated months before malnutrition and, eventually, starvation take hold. As we discuss above, families that are forced to sell valuable assets like livestock are then *permanently* worse off, and so even more vulnerable to future hazards. Children who endure malnutrition suffer lifelong consequences ranging from stunting to lower cognitive ability. [1] Responding early pays off—for example, providing emergency cash transfers to the poorest and most at risk is often both more effective and cheaper than shipping food aid to affected areas after famine takes hold. [2]
Responding early pays off—for example, providing emergency cash transfers to the poorest and most at risk is often both more effective and cheaper than shipping food aid to affected areas after famine takes hold.

The paucity of early response to droughts is not because the frontline agencies do not know what works. Frontline agencies understand that responding early is cheaper and more effective than responding late, and they know what to do. *Commercial destocking*, for example, describes a strategy of buying livestock before a crisis, at better prices than local markets would pay when a community tries to sell its animals at the same time. This protects a major source of household wealth during droughts. But if financing arrives only when needs are acute, development agencies instead must spend scarce resources *restocking* after crises, rather than saving time and money before the drought's worst effects are felt. [3]

Early response is smart and feasible—often just not fundable with existing budget lines.

Existing funding instruments are a bad fit for this problem. Pooled funds capitalised by donors and managed by humanitarians that we describe below, like the Common Emergency Relief Fund, are crowded with other urgent and immediate calls on their budgets, and so prioritise rapid-onset crises. Emergency funding is only available at scale when the symptoms of the crisis are at their worst. Indications of malnutrition, for instance, are more likely to trigger funding than crop failures based on meteorological analysis, even though it is the crop failures that lead to malnutrition. Early response is smart and feasible—often just not fundable with existing budget lines.

We Lose the Preparedness Dividend

Estimating the returns from better planning and preparation is difficult. To assert a value of doing business differently, we need a credible *counterfactual*, an alternative statistical history of what would have happened if a different funding arrangement had been in place. Because conducting a controlled study in an emergency setting is hard or unethical (or both), many existing studies are based on quantitative models calibrated to real-world data. These studies return varied but consistently large estimates of the payoff from responding early. For disease outbreaks, for example, according to one cost–benefit calculation, spending \$3.4 billion a year on better disease surveillance and response would save \$37 billion a year in future pandemics averted. [4] In humanitarian response, a study that evaluated \$5.6 million worth of preparedness investments in three countries—like the building of an airstrip in Chad for \$680,000 that would save \$5.2 million by eliminating the need to charter helicopters in the rainy season—concluded that the overall portfolio of investments had a benefit—cost ratio of more than two to one, with time savings in terms of faster responses ranging from 2 to 50 days. [5] In drought response, a model-based study has compared response options in Ethiopia and Kenya, ranging from responding late to acting early (for example, by spending money on commercial destocking). It suggests a planned and funded response that could kick in early pays a huge dividend compared to emergency food aid or cash transfers, with savings of over \$1.1 billion from destocking alone. [6]

We Lose the Resilience Dividend

We cannot reduce the chance of a hurricane's making landfall, but we can reduce our losses when it does. But tackling these costs tomorrow demands investment today. A distinct yet related consequence of depending on today's ex-post funding arrangements is a systematic underinvestment in resilience.

This is unfortunate, because the returns to such investments are high. One study of the returns to investing in flood defenses in Mexico compared severe events in 2007 and 2010 (after the flood defenses had been completed) and found that investments had a 200 percent payoff in terms of losses avoided. [7]

An important source of these benefits is economic performance better than what might otherwise have been achieved. Another recent study of Mexican data finds municipalities that got insurance payouts grew 2–4 percent faster than those that experienced a hazard but did not benefit from insurance cover. This differential ultimately generated benefit to cost ratios in the range of 1.52 to 2.89. [8] But missing out on such high-return, low-cost opportunities is not limited to low- and middle-income countries. One study of Australian infrastructure concluded that spending money on a package of resilience measures would cut the costs of recovery from predictable natural hazards in half by 2050. [9]

More broadly, increased exposure to future losses also changes our current behaviour in ways that make us worse off. Farmers without crop insurance choose hardier crops instead of more profitable ones, for example. [10] One helpful characterisation of disaster risk points to three interlocking dividends from greater resilience: the direct payoff of lower losses, a development dividend of investments and growth that would not happen if vulnerability were higher (such as reducing the investment drag of disaster risk on sovereign credit ratings, which we discuss above), and co-benefits such as the value of forest cover from trees planted to lower landslide risk. [11] Unfortunately, investing in resilience is therefore generally unloved and ignored until immediately after hazards become disasters

Unfortunately, investing in resilience is therefore generally unloved and ignored until immediately after hazards become disasters. After a disaster, spending on resilience tends to spike because the costs of underinvestment have been brought into stark relief. Yet our incentives (and donor financing) to invest in reducing those losses generally remain unhelpfully blunted because most aid is only triggered by large, visible losses.

Notes

- [2] Overseas Development Institute and Center for Global Development, 2015.
- [3] Baudot and Hillier, 2016.
- [4] World Bank, 2012.
- [5] United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2015.
- [6] Venton et al., 2012.
- [7] World Bank, 2014.
- [8] De Janvry et al., 2016.
- [9] Deloitte Access Economics, 2013.
- [10] Gollier and Pratt, 1996.
- [11] Tanner et al., 2016.

^[1] Ferreira and Schady, 2009.

From Funding to Finance

Put simply: funding determines outcomes. When funding is unreliable and improvised, response is difficult to plan and deliver.

Put simply: funding determines outcomes. When funding is unreliable and improvised, response is difficult to plan and deliver. How can financial innovation help us do better? The two cases below suggest how to **match financing to planning**. In both, hazards interacted with poverty and vulnerability (such as a dependence on agriculture). Both were severe emergencies. And in both cases, local leaders, foreign governments, multilateral organisations like the World Bank, and frontline NGOs like Save the Children worked to alleviate the symptoms of suffering.

Innovations in how we finance response delivered more money, more predictably.

But the two cases characterise two different eras in disaster response. In the first, money was mobilised after the hazards hit. That undermined planning and the mounting of a rapid, organised response. In the second, innovations in how we finance response delivered more money, more predictably. In short, these brief examples demonstrate the benefits of **a transition from funding response to financing risk**.

Two Hurricanes in the Caribbean

On Tuesday, September 7, 2004, a tropical storm picked up speed as it travelled across the Atlantic toward Jamaica. Hurricane Ivan made landfall there and in the Cayman Islands on September 11, leaving thousands without shelter—more than 19,000 in Jamaica alone—and causing more than a billion dollars in damage. [1]

The global public sector's response was generous but torturously slow. More than a month after Ivan had hit, the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund organised a presentation of the official damage assessment to alert donors. [2] It mobilised \$150 million in loans and \$10 million in emergency liquidity for urgent imports like petrol.

Since the insurance facility began operating in 2007, CCRIF has made 22 payouts worth \$69 million to 10 member governments, all within two weeks or less of a hazard.

Over a decade later, on August 27, 2015, the center of Hurricane Erika's mass passed just 90 km south of Dominica, causing flooding and landslides that killed at least 20 people and caused destruction valued at nine-tenths of the country's GDP. [3] But unlike the aftermath of Hurricane Ivan, Dominica's most immediate post-disaster financing needs were paid just two weeks later. The \$2.4 million payout came from the Caribbean Catastrophe Risk Insurance Facility (CCRIF), a region-wide insurance pool that we discuss in greater detail below. Since the insurance facility began operating in 2007, CCRIF has made 22 payouts worth \$69 million to 10 member governments, all within two weeks or less of a hazard.

Two Floods in Malawi

In 2001, heavy rainfall caused flooding that left fields waterlogged in a country in which eight in ten people derive their main income from agriculture. Maize production dropped to just 1.7 million tonnes, a third lower than the previous season. In late 2001, Save the Children, an international NGO, began warning of acute food shortages for nearly half the households in some districts. [4]

Finally, in January 2003—more than a year after large areas of Malawi were affected by malnutrition—the World Bank mobilised a \$50 million package of soft loans and grants.

By April 2002, estimates of *excess mortality* suggested that up to 500 people, mainly elderly people and children, had died from hunger and malnutrition. [5] This was probably an underestimate; lists of the deceased collected by NGOs put estimated deaths between 1,000 and 3,000. [6] Finally, in January 2003—more than a year after large areas of Malawi were affected by malnutrition—the World Bank mobilised a \$50 million package of soft loans and grants to augment the state coffers.

In 2015, more than 10 years later, much more severe flooding affected 600,000 people and damaged more than 60,000 hectares of cultivated land in Malawi.[7] A *post-disaster needs assessment* indicated total recovery needs at nearly \$500 million, far outstripping the government's contingency funds. [8] By April, the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) had reported 400 cases of cholera, a waterborne disease that spreads quickly during floods and is especially lethal to children. [9] As in 2002, Malawi's government did not have the capacity to deal with damages on this scale—the country's entire 2015 government budget was \$1 billion. [10]

After flooding caused large-scale and visible damage, donors ranging from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation to the United States responded through a \$50 million appeal. [11] But this time, global assistance was supplemented by \$80 million in emergency liquidity provided to Malawi's government from the World Bank's Crisis Response Window (CRW), mobilised in five months. [12]

> Rapid payouts to Dominica from CCRIF saved time, money, and lives by supporting a faster, better-organised disaster recovery that was, in turn, only possible because financing had been prearranged.

Rapid payouts to Dominica from CCRIF saved time, money, and lives by supporting a faster, better-organised disaster recovery that was, in turn, only possible because financing had been prearranged. Similarly, emergency credit facilitated by the World Bank smoothed Malawi's national budget, without shortchanging assistance, trying to solicit money through an appeal, or making bad tradeoffs with high opportunity costs, like reallocating funds from health or education budgets. Neither model is perfect, but both indicate the right direction of travel, illustrating the benefits of financing risk over unpredictably funding response.

The Landscape of Innovation

A useful framework is to class these novel programmes based on *who is covered* and *who benefits* directly. Large-scale, or *macro*, cover involves national authorities as counterparties; these authorities then use the cover against natural disaster risk to provide protection to vulnerable households. Smaller-scale, or *micro*, contracts either benefit households directly or have households as the counterparties to contracts, as in microinsurance. Table 4-1 sets out the three broad categories with key examples of each.

Table 4-1. Schemes Vary by Counterparty and Who Benefits

		Who is the counterparty?	
		Meso (e.g., NGOs) Macro (e.g., governments)	Micro
o Sfits?	Meso, Macro	Sovereign insurance Like CCRIF, PCRAFI, and ARC Cheap credit Such as the World Bank's CRW	
Who bene	Micro	Safety nets Like Ethiopia's PSNP and Kenya's HSNP	Microinsurance

We describe these facilities in greater detail below and explain why none of the working group's four recommended actions involve microinsurance.

Sovereign Risk Pools

The CCRIF pool that paid out to Dominica is a mutual insurance vehicle that holds natural disaster risk from 17 Caribbean countries. It has paid out 22 times for the risks it covers—hurricanes, earthquakes, and heavy rains—for a collective payment value of nearly \$70 million. Members of CCRIF pay premiums of \$200,000 to \$4 million a year for coverage of up to \$50 million, reflecting the high level of cover necessary in these relatively economically developed countries.

Like CCRIF, the Pacific Catastrophe Risk Assessment and Financing Initiative (PCRAFI) graduated from a pilot programme established with technical assistance from the World Bank and with donor support, primarily from Japan. It, too, collects premiums from Pacific Island Countries' governments that enable it to pay out in response to severe earthquakes or extreme weather events. In 2015, Tonga and Vanuatu both received payouts of roughly \$2 million—small in absolute terms, but large relative to their government budgets (Vanuatu's 2014 budget was about \$130 million). More importantly, this financing is particularly valuable because the money is paid when tax receipts are likely to contract the most. [13]

> ARC innovates by requiring new members to set up preparedness plans specifying how payouts will be used.

Finally, like the risk pools in the Pacific and the Caribbean, the underlying financial engineering of African Risk Capacity (ARC) involves collecting premiums from its African member states to finance the underlying *captive* insurance company, a term of art for an insurer that is owned and operated by the entities it insures. In its first year, ARC insured Kenya, Mauritania, Niger, and Senegal for up to \$30 million per season, varying by deductible ("attachment point") and limit. [14] ARC innovates by requiring new members to set up preparedness plans specifying how payouts will be used. An independent body (neither ARC's secretariat nor the insurance company) vets the plans; coverage is only offered if a plan passes muster. [15]

Contingent Credit

The World Bank has innovated by developing a Crisis Response Window (mentioned above) to mobilise concessional lending to a country affected by a disaster faster than the institution's average turnaround time of 14–16 months.

Development progress has a ratchet effect: locking in past gains enables future ones. Recognising that natural disasters imperil this progress, the World Bank has innovated by developing a Crisis Response Window (mentioned above) to mobilise concessional lending to a country affected by a disaster faster than the institution's average turnaround time of 14–16 months. [16] As a result, Malawi's challenge of meeting the costs of flooding in 2015 was partially offset because the government had access to support from the CRW. [17] Since it was set up in 2010, the CRW has financed response in Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone (to deal with commodity price slumps and the effects of Ebola); Malawi (after severe flooding); Nepal (following the 2015 earthquake); and the Solomon Islands, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu (following tropical storms).

Loans and risk pooling help to fix fundamental problems of how to finance disaster response quickly and without fractured budget lines. Moreover, the working group's analysis demonstrates that making assistance more reliable and providing it on a larger scale are both important steps to improving on the existing aid paradigm. But schemes like the CRW and sovereign pools (with the exception of ARC) omit two essential, further innovations.

First, few such programmes tie financing to planning—that is, provide a clear articulation of how financing to governments will *reach* vulnerable households. Second, disbursement is tied to procedures, rather than external triggers. In Malawi's case, a soft loan from the Crisis Response Window was available in May 2015—five months after devastating flooding in January. That is much faster than typical development lending, but it is much slower than necessary to mobilise an effective, early response.

Household Safety Nets

Programmes in Kenya and Ethiopia link these payments to information about expected food shortages, and Kenya's has enrolled households that only get assistance when food insecurity hits.

A final innovation in response lies in tightly linking funding to distribution through *safety nets*. Like their cousins in countries with higher average incomes, safety nets like Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Programme (PSNP) and Kenya's Household Safety Net Programme (HSNP) move resources from the central government to household budgets. But the programmes in Kenya and Ethiopia link these payments to information about expected food shortages, and Kenya's has enrolled households that only get assistance when food insecurity hits. Thus the term of art for these programmes: *scalable, shock-responsive safety nets*.

Ethiopia's PSNP provides the same core service as the HSNP at a much larger scale, covering more than 7.5 million *chronically food insecure* people —roughly a tenth of the country's population.

The Kenyan government's HSNP provides regular cash transfers to the poorest group of households in Mandera, Marsabit, Turkana, and Wajir, four counties in northern Kenya with a history of vulnerability. During a drought in 2015, the HSNP scaled up between April and October from its business-as-usual target of over 90,000 of the poorest households to fold in more than 110,000 additional households that were newly vulnerable because of food shortages. [18] Ethiopia's PSNP provides the same core service as the HSNP at a much larger scale, covering more than 7.5 million *chronically food insecure* people—roughly a tenth of the country's population. It is financed by the government alongside a consortium of donors and has an annual budget on the order of \$350 million.

A closely related but distinct innovation is safety nets that are used only to distribute contingent funding. As discussed above, a common example of the costs of responding late is that pastoralists lose livestock (or have to sell their animals very cheaply) during droughts, creating poverty and vulnerability that continues long after crises end. Kenya's National Agricultural Insurance Program confronts this liability. The national authorities buy insurance coverage from the private sector that is triggered by early indications of drought; payments are distributed directly to farmers and pastoralists through a safety net without the intermediate step of traveling through government accounts. [19]

What About Microinsurance?

An absence of donor support is not to blame. Analysis of a compendium of risk transfer programmes in developing countries indicates 83 out of 101 such schemes were targeted to individuals.

There are two reasons that the working group does not focus on scaling up microinsurance to improve emergency aid. First, investing in new pilots would not reform existing spending by the global public sector, the key target for the innovations we discuss in this report. Second, it is not clear that microfinance provides a sustainable way to tackle the fundamental problems of disaster aid. An absence of donor support is not to blame. Analysis of a compendium of risk transfer programmes in developing countries indicates 83 out of 101 such schemes were targeted to individuals rather than firms or public authorities. [20] But the verdict so far on microinsurance programmes appears to be that there has been a lot of investment in experimentation, which has not so far provided evidence of sustainability.

One study in the Indian state of Andhra Pradesh concluded that less than 5 percent of eligible poor households invested in insurance policies.

Many well-intentioned schemes have been stymied by low demand that does not seem related to particular cultural factors or scheme characteristics. One study in the Indian state of Andhra Pradesh concluded that less than 5 percent of eligible poor households invested in insurance policies; [21] take-up in distant Malawi is similarly disappointing. [22] These careful statistical studies corroborate conclusions from a larger evidence base that designing products for poor families is feasible but catalysing sustainable demand remains a fundamental, unsolved challenge.

As a result, there has not been a micro*insurance* revolution on par with the step-level increase in access to micro*credit.* [23] Where schemes have been successful—for example, when donors and households share the premium payments—they remain expensive, on the order of \$50 per policy. That puts them out of the reach of the most vulnerable and so displaces, rather than solves, the problem of delivering better public protection.

Donors will continue to be enthusiastic about investing in microinsurance programmes, and there is optimism that a particular model will be able to scale up. Donors will continue to be enthusiastic about investing in microinsurance programmes, and there is optimism that a particular model will be able to scale up. The G7 *InsurResilience* initiative seeks to increase access to insurance (including *direct* access, through microinsurance products) to 400 million people, focusing on the very poorest exposed to climate change. These experiments should be welcomed. But because they can price out the poorest and most vulnerable and struggle to mitigate larger, more expensive risks, they are not the model of smarter financing for public response that the working group focuses on here.

Notes

- [1] The Economist, 2004.
- [2] World Bank, 2009.
- [3] World Bank, 2015c.
- [4] Taifour, 2002.

[5] Ibid.

- [6] Devereux, 2002.
- [7] Hallegatte, Bangalore, and Nkoka, 2015.

[8] Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR), 2015.

[9] United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2015.

[10] This government's budget includes budget support from donors like the European Union.

- [11] United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance (OCHA), 2015.
- [12] World Bank, 2015b.
- [13] Mahul et al., 2015.
- [14] African Risk Capacity (ARC), 2016.

[15] ARC is exceptional in this respect; for example, anecdotal evidence indicates a CCRIF payout to Haiti for damage caused by Hurricane Matthew was difficult to track and did not fund a clear response plan.

[16] Park and Strand, 2015.

[17] Unlike mutual insurance pools, these payouts are subsidised but zero-sum. Because countries have a total amount they are eligible to borrow from the International Development Association (IDA), mobilising money now through the CRW implies fewer resources to finance development later.

[18] Heltberg et al., 2009.

[19] World Bank, 2015a.

[20] Oramas-Dorta et al., 2012.

[21] Giné et al., 2008.

[22] Giné and Yang, 2009.

[23] Clarke and Dercon, 2015.

Scaling Up Predictable Aid

The working group's core conclusion is that the scarce resource is predictability.

Because the vast majority of money spent on natural disasters arrives when needs are acute, we dramatically overinvest in tools that respond to crises *after* they become severe. Yet we underinvest in—or simply do not have—tools that finance risk reduction and fast, early, effective response. The working group's core conclusion is that the scarce resource is predictability. To make aid more predictable, we must set out in advance **who** gets **how much** in response to **which** risk. That, in turn, implies two kinds of policy innovations:

- · First, pivot existing budgets to pre-agree funding
- Second, transfer additional risks to the insurance sector

We can capture the dividends of responding predictably, early, and effectively if finance is available when disasters strike—not when donors decide to invest in response plans.

The common thread running from sovereign risk pools like ARC to household safety nets like the PSNP that we detail above is the match between future risks and funding today. Arranging funding in advance by earmarking existing funds and using concessional insurance enables donors, frontline agencies, and governments to capture the benefits of responding early, planning ahead, and reducing future losses. And it provides smarter, more efficient support.

Most Aid Is Unpredictable

Governments have urgent priorities, like schooling and health care, so building and maintaining reserve budgets carries very high political and social opportunity costs.

The solution is *not* for governments or frontline agencies to develop large disaster slush funds. Holding a large amount of money against future risks is expensive and often not feasible, and it would be inefficient. Agencies struggle to maintain running balances because of constant pressures on them to respond and deliver, and because funding from donors is mainly predicated on single deliverables or actions, not injected into core budgets. Governments have urgent priorities, like schooling and health care, so building and maintaining reserve budgets carries very high political and social opportunity costs. (We return to these points in more detail below .) Donors step in to address some of the resulting shortfall. It is useful to separate the tools they use based on whether they **tie funding to specific risks** (so enabling planning and rapid disbursement) or are **not agreed** in advance. Table 5-1 summarises this framework, with examples of different donor budget lines in each cell.

	Agreed on in advance $E_X Ante$	Not agreed on in advance Ex Post
Transfers risk	CCRIF, PCRAFI, ARC	Appeals, response plans
Smoothes costs	Catastrophe Deferred Drawdown Option	Crisis Response Window

Table 5-1. Disaster Aid Tools Vary by Pre-agreement and Financing

The Crisis Response Window is an important innovation that allows countries to borrow on an accelerated basis from the International Development Association (IDA), the World Bank's soft loan window. But this funding is not attached to specific, predictable risks. As set out above, in 2015 it took Malawi five months to get access to \$80 million from the CRW to respond to devastating floods. But this was not a surprise; analysis of aid appeals shows that flooding had triggered response plans in five of the previous fifteen years.

Some costs are, indeed, transferred from local problems to donors through tools like *humanitarian response plans*. But this is a very **imperfect risk transfer**. As noted above, the assistance donors pay out may be well-intentioned, but it is generally not predictable, unified, or explicitly tied to predefined risks. This causes the **underinvestment in planning** that undermines response. There are alternatives to the imperfect risk transfer of ex-post aid. But the vast majority of funding that is not provided through ex-post aid is not *pre-agreed*. This means that we have not explicitly attached a payout to a predictable future risk, thereby undermining, rather than incenting, planning while blunting incentives to invest in disaster risk reduction.

Table 5-2 sums up the various kinds of instruments donors have supported to provide average annual payouts for each of these categories, collapsing detailed descriptions and estimates summarised in Annex A. In short, this is an **allocation problem**; we spend far too much through budget lines that do not enable planning ahead or create incentives for investment in risk reduction. This analysis highlights the simple point that aid overwhelmingly focuses on ex-post response, rather than pre-committing money that could otherwise enable better planning when predictable hazards arrive.

Table 5-2. Aid Treats Disasters Like Surprises

L

	Estimated average annual payouts, 2010–15	
	Agreed in advance Ex Ante	Not agreed in advance Ex Post
Transfers risk	\$12 million	\$2,276 million
Smoothes costs	\$271 million	\$185 million

Indeed, pre-agreed risk transfer programmes are conspicuous by their absence. *ClimateWise*, the compendium listing such programmes, includes 101 that were active (rather than proposed) at the time it was published. Of these, 40 had some kind of public sector participation from donors. [1] But because support consists mainly of technical advice or initial fixed costs, payments after disasters that can be linked to pre-agreed donor capital—that is, that can be plausibly scored alongside traditional, ex-post aid—are dominated by the sovereign risk pools of ARC, PCRAFI, and CCRIF. Analysing annual reporting from these pools indicates total payouts of roughly \$60 million over five years, or about \$12 million a year. [2] Some instruments, like the Catastrophe Deferred Drawdown Option discussed in detail in Annex B , do marry pre-agreed financing to predictable risks. But these tools capture a very small share of donor funds. [3]

This foregrounds a simple argument for innovation. Taxpayers in rich countries provide generous support to emergency response. But this effort has been allocated mainly to ad hoc, responsive budget lines, like appeals. Those are precisely the facilities that are not agreed beforehand, and so *by design* cannot match funding to risks.

Missing Instruments in Disaster Finance

Consider the contrast between available disaster budget lines and how we *finance risk* in our own lives. We *retain* the risk of small losses by planning to cover them with money in our current accounts. For rarer, larger losses, we may *smooth* our losses over time by borrowing from our income next month or next year; we might use a credit card. And we cover our largest and rarest losses, like getting sick or coming home to find the basement flooded, by *transferring risk* to insurers through buying home insurance or medical cover.

Table 5-3. Risk Finance Tools

Action	Tool	Effect		
Retain	Savings	Move money from our current selves (by not spending it) to our future selves in case something happens.		
Smooth	Loan, credit card, overdraft	Move money from our future selves to our current selves because something has happened.		
Transfer	Insurance	Helps us transfer losses by socialising them, sharing possible costs with others who are doing the same with us.		
	The sum of these instruments is greater than the whole. Without savings, even a small loss causes bankruptcy.			

The insight is that the sum of these instruments is greater than the whole. Without savings, even a small loss causes bankruptcy. At the other extreme, lacking insurance may mean facing catastrophic losses, like getting very ill without being able to get medical help. Importantly, the choice of how much cover we have and the price we pay for it captures our sense of how big the losses might be relative to our ability to bear them and how likely they are to happen. In the jargon, we manage our *contingent liabilities*—risks that might or might not materialise—using tools ranging from a savings account to support from our friends and families to an insurer willing to bear some of our risk in exchange for a premium.

> Most aid does not work like this. Because disaster funding is mainly reactive and mainly invested in emergency grants, the vast majority of expected losses are held (*retained*) by vulnerable families, local authorities, and frontline agencies.

Most aid does not work like this. Because disaster funding is mainly reactive and mainly invested in emergency grants, the vast majority of expected losses are held (*retained*) by vulnerable families, local authorities, and frontline agencies. When a risk is realised, frontline agencies and governments often must depend on their own budgets. For agencies, that means spending out of internal, unrestricted funds, to the extent that these exist; for governments, it means deploying resources from a reserve budget, reallocating money from other budget lines, or borrowing from international lenders.

We set out a highly stylised view of this situation in Figure 5-1. Each axis separates the cost of losses from the chance (probability) they will occur and shows a notional risk layering approach to dealing with these future liabilities.

Figure 5-1. Stylised View of Funding Risk versus Risk Financing



The rightmost figure summarises how we might apportion risk if governments and agencies had access to more tools, such as credit lines that provide liquidity when disasters are likely to happen (like signs of drought pointing to imminent hunger) or happen quickly (like the immediate aftereffects of a violent storm). The tools we use to finance response should correspond to the frequency and severity of the risks we confront. Events that are expensive but common are not rare and so are best tackled by investing in resilience, effectively *retaining* and *reducing* them. Risks that are either relatively cheap to deal with or relatively common, on the other hand, are a good fit for set-asides (in the case of agencies) or reserves (for governments).

Actuarial science combines frequency and severity—the axes of the stylised diagrams above into a single metric to summarise how often we would expect to see a loss at least as large as some given amount. A "1 in 100" storm, for example, has a 1 percent chance of happening in any given year. [4] Table 5-4 sets out one solution to *layering* such risks for a notional government and set of liabilities. It clarifies the point that savings, set-asides, and reserves are tools that should be deployed against only the most frequent risks, like the "1 in 1" risks we expect to observe once a year.

Frequency (max)	Agreed in advance Ex Ante	Not agreed in advance Ex Post
"1 in 20" or 5%	Budgetary reserves, set-asides	Emergency reallocation
"1 in 30" or 3.3%	Pre-agreed loans	Emergency loans
"1 in 100" or 1%	Insurance	Aid from donors

Table 5-4. Match Risk Finance Tools to Frequency of Events

Note: Adapted from Clarke and Dercon, 2016.

The general point is that if we are able to develop a clear-eyed view of future potential losses, then developing a *risk financing strategy* —a set of financial tools that provides the most efficient way to confront these losses—is largely a solved problem. Specifically, by combining information about potential losses with data on what the cost of borrowing would be for contingent credit and the size of potential reserve fund (for governments) or set-asides (for agencies), we can set out the cheapest combination of risk finance tools that would meet the range of future costs. [5]

The challenge is to cultivate the political will to treat disasters as manifestations of risk, rather than surprises, and so to acknowledge that we should spend resources today to finance them tomorrow.

The challenge is to cultivate the political will to treat disasters as manifestations of risk, rather than surprises, and so to acknowledge that we should spend resources today to finance them to-morrow. This is a nuanced point: there is no *single* correct set of dividing lines between layers of risk (the blue lines of our stylised diagram above) and so no *single* best mixture of tools to layer and finance different layers of risk. (Annex B provides intuition for the specific role of insurance contracts in disaster aid.)

The African Risk Capacity provides a useful example. As set out above, the mutual insurance pool is contracted to pay out to member governments based on objective measures, like wind speed for the violence of storms and rainfall for the potential risk of drought. [6] ARC's contract pays out against "1 in 5" risks; it is designed to confront hazards with a one-in-five chance that an event will be violent enough to trigger the contract in a given year.

This is a relatively expensive way to protect frontline governments: the price of insurance is linked to the probability of payouts, plus a margin for insurers to hold money against that risk and various transaction costs. So insuring against risks that are larger or happen more frequently, or both, is more expensive: in our own lives, we are insured against large and rare losses, like home fires, but not against minor and frequent costs, like mildly burning our fingers when we cook breakfast.

But that financing strategy might be politically impossible, because ARC's members—countries like Malawi and Niger—struggle to make a political case for paying premiums with long gaps between payouts. Taxpayers would grow frustrated at seeing a cost centre that "never" pays off, and governments would have to pay premiums for a payout that would be most likely benefit a future administration. That would be the case *by design* for insurance against rarer risks, like a "1 in 100" flood that has a 1 percent chance of being triggered in any given year.

Notes

[3] Moreover, the so-called Cat DDO lends on less attractive terms to fewer, richer countries than the Crisis Response Window.

[4] This does not mean we have only a 1 percent chance of observing losses this size in the next hundred years, or that if the storm happens once it will not happen again for a hundred years, because the odds are for observing the storm in *any given* year. So the chance we will see a "1 in 100" storm once in, say, 70 years is quite high—roughly 50 percent, equivalent to whether a fair coin toss comes up heads.

[5] Clarke et al., 2016.

[6] ARC's contract also includes two *nonparametric* terms: the government that would receive the payout needs to invoke it, and, as we discuss in the main text, it must have a preparedness plan in place, setting out what it will do with the payout.

^[1] Authors' calculations based on Oramas-Dorta et al., 2012.

^[2] Data on payouts from CCRIF, Caribbean Catastrophe Risk Insurance Facility (CCRIF) SPC, 2015; African Risk Capacity (ARC), 2015; World Bank, 2016.

The Benefits of Predictability

Agencies and governments find it difficult to keep money *on budget* because *something is always urgent.*

There is a tradeoff here. Pre-agreeing payouts reduces donors' freedom to act, and participating in insurance contracts creates a legal obligation on the part of participants to pay premiums (or lose cover). Because they are a principal source of funding, the working group considered what benefits donors would get in return for this loss of discretion. Moving from funding to pre-agreed payouts carries three advantages that are good for both frontline governments and agencies, and also benefit donors:

Agencies and governments find it politically and practically difficult to keep money *on budget* because *something is always urgent.*

- **Speed:** Contracts tie disbursement to clear indicators of need, so money arrives when it is needed and is not tied up in political wrangling or bureaucratic procedure.
- **Discipline:** Agencies and governments find it politically and practically difficult to keep money *on budget* because *something is always urgent*; pre-agreed funding and insurance contracts keep money on call but *off budget*.
- **Coordination** : Both pre-agreement and risk transfer create platforms for donors to pool resources, and they provide more unified grants, in contrasts to the inefficient and expensive fragmentation of most ex-post aid.

Risk transfer to the insurance sector confers three additional benefits beyond pre-agreeing conditions that trigger spending of existing donor funds:

- Leverage: Paying insurance premiums frees up funding for other priorities, just as our home insurance payments let us spend more today than if we had to save (*self-insure*) against the chance of fire, flood, or burglary.
- **Risk management:** Rather than allowing donors to write dubious contingent contracts that then require the public sector expertly to hold a portfolio of risk, we can pay the insurance industry to do this for us (and so benefit from the regulatory requirement that it be resilient against even rare and expensive risks).

• **Capital depth:** The insurance sector can underwrite much larger, more expensive potential losses than donors can.

We set out each of these points below.

Speed

Haiti's experience with insurance is rarely discussed, but it makes a useful counterpoint to its experience of donor-led funding. As related above, in 2007 the World Bank worked with regional governments to establish CCRIF, a common insurance pool for Caribbean countries. The scheme combined core capital from the Bank with premium payments from the countries themselves that were initially subsidised by donors. Haiti's \$8 million payout from CCRIF was available just 19 hours after the 2010 earthquake struck—a faster reaction than that of the IMF, the US government, or the World Bank itself. [1]

Designing contracts against clear triggers enables governments and agencies to tackle emergencies when resources are needed, rather than when losses become serious (or visible) enough to trigger aid.

This is a general point: designing contracts against clear triggers enables governments and agencies to tackle emergencies when resources are needed, rather than when losses become serious (or visible) enough to trigger aid. In addition to paying out quickly and reliably, contracts beat commitments because they can be tailored to deliver finance before needs are at their greatest.

In 2005, the World Food Programme implemented a pilot program in Ethiopia to buy an insurance contract from Axa Re that paid out when the Ethiopia Drought Index (based on readings from 26 weather stations) showed that a localised drought was likely. [2] Looking ahead, scaling up such parametric insurance and pushing resulting payouts to households through the Productive Safety Net Programme , the country's national safety net, would match financing to purpose in a way that donor funding has generally not done.

The speed of payouts arising from clear contracting is a double-edged sword. In some cases, the conditions governing payouts might not be met, so payouts do not arrive even when the situation on the ground clearly merits them (conversely, they might arrive when they are not needed). This so-called *basis risk* cannot be ignored—but can be managed. We discuss it further below .

Self-Discipline

In November 2008, disgruntled government workers burned Andrès Velasco, then Chile's minister of finance, in the streets of Santiago. That it was an effigy of him gave Dr. Velasco modest comfort. Protestors targeted him because the government he served as minister of finance, led by President Michelle Bachelet, was wildly unpopular. It was saving a large share of record-high earnings from copper, Chile's main commodity export, instead of using the windfall to ramp up social spending. At its peak, the rainy day fund was nearly a third of GDP—a self-insurance policy.

Copper prices collapsed after the start of the 2008 financial crisis, sending Chile's economy into a tailspin; unemployment shot past 10 percent. Bachelet's government was able to use the saved export receipts to raise government spending to offset the worst effects of the crash in a textbook example of countercyclical fiscal policy. By the end of Bachelet's term, she and Velasco enjoyed the highest approval ratings of any leader or minister since Chile's return to democracy.

Holding money and refusing to spend it is hugely politically challenging.

The general point is that holding money and refusing to spend it is hugely politically challenging. Insurance contracts and pre-agreements about donor funding—rather than self-insurance—dramatically alleviate this political pressure. They create a commitment or a stream of payments to a third party instead of a large, tempting contingency fund. This is not a question of whether the money could be misspent because it is available on budget (although that is a possibility). Instead, it is a reasonable view of the politics of budget management.

> One study of risk management in El Salvador, for example, calculated that filling the national reserve fund would take more than 20 years.

Contingency budgets also have practical problems. Governments and agencies would struggle to fill these funds. One study of risk management in El Salvador, for example, calculated that filling the national reserve fund would take more than 20 years. [3] If a disaster strikes before an emergency budget is capitalised, this layer of risk management fails before it is even tested. [4]

Coordination

Migrating a larger share of future aid costs to contracts combats the fragmentation that gums up ex-post aid. Pre-agreed funding would inject a single, larger grant to support a unified response plan. By definition, this increases the concentration of donor assistance, as compared to the current approach of funding many smaller projects.

These benefits also accrue to risk transfer agreements. Having only a single premium and a single payout per contract focuses donor assistance. And agreements and formal contracts both enable donors and governments to pool funding by allowing multiple donors to support the same concessional insurance contract or pre-agreed grant tied to future risks. That lowers the transaction costs of response for both donors and their partner frontline governments or agencies.

Leverage

Consider a donor that expects to confront losses of a notional \$100 to respond to a possible hurricane, on top of the amount it could reliably meet through its own core budget and other resources. It could deal with this *contingent liability* by keeping the full amount on its budget. But that incurs the costs we discuss above : money stored on a budget is a tempting target for other priorities, potentially leaving response underfunded if the drought does arrive. If the risk is not realized, a donor incurs an opportunity cost—urgent development work that was not financed because money was being held against a risk that did not materialise.

Compare this to using a contract to transfer the risk. If there were a one in ten chance of a drought happening during the year, then the *actuarially fair* price for \$100 worth of cover would be \$10. That is much less than the \$100 the donor would have to budget against the potential loss if the same amount of cover were kept "on budget."

So a direct consequence of investing in insurance to cover these liabilities is that the same pool of donor money can be *leveraged* to cover more potential losses. And, as set out above, the donor could plan its response more effectively because it had clear commitments to pay pre-agreed amounts of money in response to specific crises.

Risk Management

The insurance sector has developed highly sophisticated risk modeling to do its work—and to avoid bankruptcy. Donors do not have this expertise and will struggle to replicate it.

Rather than paying a premium for risk transfer (\$10 in the example above) or contracting for payouts from existing windows, donors might keep \$10 on their budgets to fully cover the 10 percent chance of confronting \$100 in losses. Why, then, pay for risk transfer at all? There are two problems with not doing so: the global public sector's lack of **models** and **expertise**. The insurance sector has developed highly sophisticated risk modeling to do its work—and to avoid bankruptcy. Donors do not have this expertise and will struggle to replicate it.

Some donors have added *crisis modifiers* to their sets of internal budget instruments. [5] When US-AID delivers a wider development programme in the Sahel, it might include a modifier to allow more funding to come online when a predictable risk like a drought materialises. [6] This approach is a positive, but limited, step. In this setting, USAID is effectively pre-committing to protect its own programme. But the approach still requires donors to estimate correctly the amount of additional funding the programme will need because the level of risk has to be estimated. Once again, an overestimate means money is not used and so incurs opportunity costs work that could have been done with this budget. An underestimate means response is insufficient.

Even if donors were able to develop capital management and risk modeling skills, these supposedly clear rules might be difficult to adhere to. Anecdotal evidence suggests at least one major donor agency has not triggered modifiers because money had already been spent. [7] Contracts discourage this behaviour by guaranteeing payouts in response to triggers and creating a cost (a legal liability) to not delivering it if the trigger conditions are breached. Moreover, modifiers are generally tied to perceptions of losses or future losses, instead of specific, measurable triggers, making payouts both slower and less predictable.

> This would recreate in donor budgets the problems of underfunded or delayed response that risk transfer and pre-agreement should solve.

Put differently, in trying to solve the problem of how much to budget against risks they face, donors, governments, and frontline agencies create a new risk—that of getting it wrong. This would recreate in donor budgets the problems of underfunded or delayed response that risk

transfer and pre-agreement should solve. There is no theoretical reason why the global public sector could not manage calls on capital as effectively as it would achieve by paying insurers for risk transfer. But it is highly unlikely donors could develop the necessary human and financial resources to do it well.

Calculating vulnerability turns disaster risk and planning from a logistical exercise into a matter of national fiscal and economic health.

The working group highlighted an important positive externality of modeling underlying risks. Doing so often provides a novel—and generally unique—forum for joined up thinking on disaster response in agencies and national governments. As one working group member put it, meetings to discuss risk profiles and insurance purchases usually represent the first time disaster management officials discuss response on an equal footing with ministries of finance and treasuries. Calculating vulnerability turns disaster risk and planning from a logistical exercise into a matter of national fiscal and economic health.

Capital Depth

A related but distinct argument in favour of combining pre-agreement for existing funding with risk transfer is that the insurance industry can underwrite much more expensive losses than aid budgets can. [8] The value of connecting insurance needs in emerging markets with capital in industrialised countries is enormous.

\$13.8 billion was the *least* conservative measure of disaster-related aid in 2010. That year, the insurance industry covered insured losses of \$38 billion.

Based on analysis presented earlier, \$13.8 billion was the *least* conservative measure of disasterrelated aid in 2010. That year, the insurance industry covered insured losses of \$38 billion; the next year, it covered losses of \$105 billion. [9] Mainly due to flooding in Thailand, 2011 was certainly a rare and expensive year, but it was one the industry absorbed because of the specific regulatory requirement to be resilient to rare and expensive events.

Figure 6-1



Payouts Are Larger than Ex-Post Aid

Center for Global Development

Average annual losses from natural disasters have been \$190 billion a year since 2005, but the modern insurance industry has evolved to cover more than \$300 billion in catastrophe risks globally. [10] The potential costs of some of these risks would overrun even the insurance industry's capacity. Index-linked securities, including catastrophe bonds, are a relatively recent innovation that enables those risks to be transferred from the insurance industry to global capital markets, an effectively bottomless pool of capital with over \$280 trillion in assets.

Notes

[1] Roodman, 2010.

[2] Field, 2012.

[3] Mechler, 2004.

[4] A possibility we do not explore here is regional pooling of reserve funds to overcome some of these problems. Examples include the Latin American International Reserve Fund (FLAR) and the Chiang Mai Initiative (CMI) in East Asia. See International Monetary Fund (IMF), 2016, for a useful discussion.

[5] Feinstein International Center, 2016.

[6] An important distinction is that funding from modifiers is typically pre-assigned (but not

guaranteed). This is a bug, not a feature. Since funding is not guaranteed in response to clear criteria like drought warnings, modifiers do not create the certainty that agencies and other partners need to plan a response. As a result, modifiers effectively reinvent many of the same problems that undermine unpredictable, ex-post aid.

[7] Private conversation with senior representatives of a major, US-domiciled NGO which asked not to be named with respect to this point because they work closely with USAID.

[8] This is a nuanced argument. In theory, donors could underwrite much greater amounts of risk by ramping up their foreign aid budgets. But increasing total foreign aid spending is much more politically costly (and so less likely) than leveraging existing aid allocations to make them more efficient and more effective, as we discuss here.

[9] Munich Re, 2015.

[10] McKinsey & Company, 2013.

Design Principles

We face a clear challenge: how to match financing to purpose so that hazards do not become disasters. The proposition is not to replace all ex-post aid with rules and insurance contracts. Instead, it is to save money, save time, and save lives in those emergencies that are the most predictable in advance, and so are *contingent liabilities* that we are best placed to manage today.

> The proposition is not to replace all ex-post aid with rules and insurance contracts; it is to save money, time, and lives in the emergencies that are the most predictable.

This creates **design choices in risk finance**. Should a donor agree to finance future response by frontline organisations and then insure its own balance sheet? Should agencies apply for donor support to take out their own insurance contracts, with premiums supported by donors? Should national governments work with the global public sector to set up new regional or national mutual insurance companies or captive insurance vehicles, populating the landscape with new variants of CCRIF, PCRAFI, or ARC?

There is no simple answer to these questions because there is no single model for better risk transfer. Instead, we face a variety of political, financial, and technical constraints that lead to different implementations of better risk management. The working group concluded that we need a simple framework to inform collaboration among the public sector, civil society, and the private sector rather than a binding target. The group articulated three relevant principles:

1. riskThinking—Price It

A necessary condition for smarter risk finance is that donors, frontline agencies, and vulnerable countries price their contingent liabilities.

The global public sector's central frustration is a reliance on budget lines that only pay out when a disaster hits, irrespective of the extent to which disasters are predictable. The first step to smarter layering of risks—determining which levels of losses we want to manage, and how—is confronting expected future costs. As in our own lives, nobody wants to invest in risk finance in general and insurance in particular until we are forced to evaluate the risks we face. So a necessary condition for smarter risk finance is that donors, frontline agencies, and vulnerable countries **price their contingent liabilities**.

If the risk of disaster were made explicit, we would have to make our risk financing solutions explicit.

Donors already have a clear commitment to respond to humanitarian emergencies. If the risk were made explicit, we would have to make our risk financing solutions explicit. The World Bank's Crisis Response Window, for example, does not claim to *hold* weather risk—but it does pay out for weather events, like its \$50 million commitment to Vanuatu following Cyclone Pam. [1]

As a result, donor governments and international institutions effectively hold these risks. Acknowledging this explicitly will be a big, but important, step forward. Adopting *riskThinking* means acknowledging the frequency and cost of these future hazards so we can develop a shared a plan to meet those costs. That plan, in turn, should use a broader set of risk finance tools than just relying on ex-post aid or reserves, like set-asides for agencies or contingency budgets for governments.

2. riskPrinciples—Layer It

Having clear information about future losses is only the first step in managing risk effectively. The next is to tie future disbursement to clear rules: rather than waiting for a hazard to develop, adopting *riskPrinciples* means setting out in advance **who owns the risk**.

Adopting *riskPrinciples* means setting out in advance who owns the risk.

In the stylised diagram of figure 5-1 above, this means setting out where each of the dashed lines should be. For a notional \$100 in expected losses, the first \$60 might be owned by local authorities, a further \$20 by lenders with whom the authorities have a conditional loan agreement (such as a Cat DDO) in place, and the final \$20 by the insurance sector, which agrees to hold this risk in exchange for a premium.

In confronting drought risks in the Horn of Africa, for example, the government of Ethiopia's immediate budget would include a reserve fund to pay into its national Productive Safety Net Programme. For a sufficiently severe drought, it might include some contingent credit arrangements to provide emergency loans to cover a larger response. And it might include some layer of risk that is transferred to insurers in exchange for premium payments that could be financed by both Ethiopian taxpayers and donors—to the benefit of both. [2]

3. riskPractice—Manage It

Considering how much risk to *transfer* is therefore a fundamental consequence of determining the total potential loss and apportioning it out.

Considering how much risk to *transfer* is therefore a fundamental consequence of determining the total potential loss and apportioning it out. But there is no single solution for agencies or state governments. The government of Vanuatu faces different incentives and constraints than the government of the Cook Islands. Retaining money in a reserve fund may be more politically expensive, or obtaining contingent credit arrangements may be more difficult. Because the share of a notional \$100 in expected losses that a government can retain varies, so will the amount it will transfer.

There is no single solution for agencies or state governments. The government of Vanuatu faces different incentives and constraints than the government of the Cook Islands.

As a result, there is no single, optimal amount of risk transfer for every situation; any amount of risk can be transferred for a price. Instead, the working group's conclusion is that we must invest in more and different ways of managing risk, and that one element of this will be risk transfer through formal agreements with the insurance sector and schemes like ARC. The size of each layer of risk—what is retained, and how the rest is managed—reflects idiosyncratic political and financial constraints.

The size of each layer of risk—what is retained, and how the rest is managed—reflects idiosyncratic political and financial constraints.

Captives or Contracts?

All three sovereign risk pools—ARC, PCRAFI, and CCRIF—that we discuss above were developed with donor support (and with valuable technical assistance, including from the World Bank). All three are either mutual insurance companies or so-called *captive* insurers that are owned and operated by the insured—in this case, member governments. In some cases, they received concessionary capital from donors, because an insurer needs a layer of founding capital to enter into contingent contracts. ARC, for example, was set up with €35 million from Germany's KfW and £30 million from the UK's Department for International Development (DFID). [3]

Setting up regional risk pools in the form of captive or mutual insurers creates many benefits for both donors and governments. It ensures local ownership and expertise and builds strong local institutions around risk management. It is also expensive; capital provided by donors needs to be "locked away" for a long time. In ARC's case, donor capital will be returned in 2034, at the earliest. [4] Indeed, CCRIF and PCRAFI *also* received funding that lowered the price of premiums to make these schemes more concessional to participating governments. Of the five governments participating in the Pacific, only the Cook Islands has paid its own way without assistance (principally from the government of Japan). ARC's premiums, in contrast, have been kept relatively low to purchasing countries through donor support to its capital base.

The working group concluded that transferring a much larger share of the predictable risks that vulnerable countries face cannot depend only on setting up technically complex and capital-intensive local risk pools. Instead, we must become more comfortable with risk transfer through contracts to the insurance sector.

By building reasonable expectations into these contracts, all three actors can get the benefits of risk transfer without having to incur the long-term costs. Moreover, doing so would increase the size and range of risks for which donors could arrange funding in advance, lower the transaction costs of providing such pre-agreement, and take advantage of the insurance sector's capital base (and risk management requirements). And it would do this without requiring donors and front-line governments to lock away large volumes of funding for a long time. We turn to these and related considerations in the next section.

Notes

[3] African Risk Capacity (ARC), 2014.

[4] Ibid.

^[1] Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR), 2016.

^[2] Clarke and Dercon, 2016.

Making Risk Finance Work

It is important to be explicit about the many side benefits these agreements help to create. Below, we set out four important further considerations for agencies and governments that want to develop risk finance strategies. Our focus is on policy and political considerations that will help donor agencies and governments deliver on this agenda. The agenda calls for donors to exchange more certainty about funding for better investments in frontline **planning and resilience**; address concerns about **moral hazard** head on; deal with the perceived **political risk** of paying for risk transfer; and take advantage of new **global consensus**.

Match Plans to Finance

Financial support for risk transfer and pre-agreed lending creates an entry point for smarter investments in planning and resilience. ARC's core innovation is to require member governments to have an externally vetted preparedness plan before they are eligible for coverage and as a requirement for getting paid if a hazard arrives. Generally, risk financing agreements, either from existing capital or through risk transfer, should clearly set out the following:

- A trigger
- A subsidy regime to make the premium cheaper
- A plan for who will get how much to do what if the trigger is breached
- A link between the premium and investments in risk mitigation
- Grants or financing from donors for investments in resilience

A notional contract for Bangladesh, for example, might insure the country against significant losses from flooding—a risk exacerbated by climate change. The government of Bangladesh, possibly with technical assistance delivered through the World Bank or other centres of technical capacity, might identify the level of coverage it requires and the priority investments required to limit losses. The innovation lies in linking payments to subsidies that require agencies and countries to demonstrate such investments in planning and resilience.

> Crucially, it would connect the cost of subsidies and the level of cover (and so payouts) to the government's own actions and its investments in mitigating risk.

The resulting contract would be signed trilaterally among a donor or multilateral agency, the government of Bangladesh, and an insurance provider. It would set out the level of coverage, the parametric trigger, and the donor's level of subsidy for the concessional insurance. Crucially, it would connect the cost of subsidies and the level of cover (and so payouts) to the government's own actions and its investments in mitigating risk of flooding. Finally, this contract would set out the amount and degree of concessionality of any donor funding for the fixed costs of Bangladesh's investments in resilience. And it would potentially be able to be scaled up (by increasing the amount covered) and across (by increasing the number of risks covered).

The working group identified two important nuances. First, the local public sector and civil society, together with international frontline agencies, are all valid partners. Planning attached to funding is a basis for collaboration, including civil society in planning and implementing plans in partnership with civil society. Analysis of disaster response in Haiti after the 2010 earthquake highlights the perils of getting this wrong. Assistance was often mismatched to needs because civil society was not included in planning meetings. This led to expensive glitches, like aid delivery being cancelled due to "insecurity" when the situation on the ground was peaceful, [1] or international rescue teams heavily focusing in some areas of Port-au-Prince while totally neglecting others.[2]

Second, planning must enable flexibility. Disaster response is often fluid, with new needs arising from a complex interaction of natural risk and human factors. Contracting for specific inputs in planning (and holding agencies and governments to account) without enabling iteration and agility would replicate, in a new format, many of the problems of fractured ex-post aid.

Confront Moral Hazard

The *Peltzman effect* refers to a finding first reported in 1975 that seatbelt laws have the counterintuitive effect of increasing injuries. The theorised mechanism is that reducing the "cost" of crashing encourages riskier behaviour. [3] How could we mitigate this shift in risk-return calculus? The so-called *Tullock spike* answers this with a Swiftian thought experiment: put a sharp spike in the middle of the steering column. [4] That would make drivers think much more carefully about speeding.

A concern about any kind of facility that offsets the costs of risk is that it increases the amount of risk we are willing to tolerate. Economists refer to this as *moral hazard*, a term of art for the possibility that better coverage might lead to worse outcomes by subsidising riskier behaviour. Consider an improved model of disaster financing in which governments and agencies benefit from predictable and pre-agreed financing. This would help them to reap the reward of preparing for future disasters—for example, through the investments in scalable, shock-responsive safety nets, which we discuss above . And it would enable agencies like Oxfam, Save the Children, or International Rescue Committee to respond more effectively to, say, a drought by funding commercial destocking and other measures early enough to offset risks of food insecurity.

It is naïve to believe moral hazard is not a reasonable thing to worry about.

Could this work exacerbate the risk of moral hazard, making the government spend less on resilience or encouraging a frontline agency like the World Food Programme to allocate less money to preparation, like pre-positioning supplies? It is naïve to believe moral hazard is not a reasonable thing to worry about. There is no facile and politically expedient tradeoff between buying treated bednets to combat malaria at a cost of about \$400 per infant life saved or investing that money in, say, better surveillance to catch the next zoonotic disease outbreak. Having more reliable financing in place to support response could well lead to underinvestment in prevention.

> Having more reliable financing in place to support response could well lead to underinvestment in prevention.

Insurance markets deal with moral hazard by offering different prices for insurance and different *deductibles* (the amount of the loss borne by the insured). Safer drivers get cheaper insurance; installing better security lowers the price of home insurance. Risk transfer supported by donors would function like this. Better resilience would be rewarded through lower coverage requirements and, so, lower overheads for premiums. [5] These incentives may be blunted if donors provide concessional insurance—in that case, moral hazard could offset the benefits of greater certainty. (This concern is lessened as agencies and governments invest in risk transfer themselves, with partial financial support from donors.)

> By requiring investments in resilience and preparedness as a condition of supporting better risk finance, donors can collaborate with governments and frontline agencies in a way that *both* lowers moral hazard and improves response.

The working group set out two points that will mitigate this concern. By requiring investments in resilience and preparedness as a condition of supporting better risk finance, donors can collaborate with governments and frontline agencies in a way that *both* lowers moral hazard and improves response. Existing sovereign risk pools already do this. To be a member of the African Risk Capacity, for example, a government must have an externally vetted preparedness plan for how it will spend the insurance payout and be subject to post-payout audits to make sure the money has been spent effectively. [6]

The existing model also creates moral hazard, but both less effective and more expensive.

Moreover, as we set out above , the existing, mainly response-based aid regime *already* engenders moral hazard. The global public sector has systematically underinvested in resilience, for example. In part, this is because money is available for responding to disasters, so we under-prioritise investing in preventing them. Studies of correlations between aid and under-resilience certainly suggest the data fit the theory: for poor countries, past total aid flows can crowd recipients' incentives to invest in resilience, and this effect is magnified by the lack of democratic accountability. [7] So the existing model also creates moral hazard, but is both less effective and more expensive.

Deal With Political Risk

Transferring risks rather than underwriting them with donors' own budgets triggers a further set of strategic concerns. Pre-agreement and concessional insurance are only credible—and so only useful—if donors forsake some of the flexibility and political leverage that come with discretionary funding. Even though the benefits of better response enabled by predictability would seem to outweigh this political cost, we should not assume it does not matter for donors.

> A standard aid programme could be frozen and staff pulled out in response. But an insurance contract might still be enforced.

Imagine if Sida, Sweden's aid agency, supported concessional insurance for a contract that would benefit a government that began to undermine human rights and imprison dissidents after a contested election. A standard aid programme could be frozen and staff pulled out in response. But an insurance contract might still be enforced, benefiting the odious regime. That could make for an uncomfortable grilling in the Riksdag for Sweden's international development minister.

The working group developed two salient points to respond to this potential problem. First, as with *moral hazard*, we should acknowledge that the risk of supporting controversial and ill-behaved governments attaches not only to more predictable assistance for disasters, but to *any* international development programme. As Paul Rosenstein-Rodin, a past deputy director of the World Bank, memorably put it, "When the World Bank thinks it is financing an electric power station, it is really financing a brothel." That was in 1947. [8] This does not mean we should be less careful about the design of risk finance arrangements. But it contextualises the concern that smarter risk finance for disasters is somehow idiosyncratically dangerous. "When the World Bank thinks it is financing an electric power station, it is really financing a brothel."

Second, pre-agreeing funding and transferring risk to insurers provide a clear, mutually beneficial, and *credible* way to require good governance standards. These terms could be written into the agreements, with light-touch monitoring. If countries or agencies renege on this deal, the contract is voided, and donors will not be liable for premiums—and the agencies or partner government in violation lose the benefits of cover.

Requirements would have to be transparent, mutually agreed, and minimal. Long experience in development (and explicit agreements between donors and partner countries made in Paris in 2005 and Busan in 2011) points away from imposing *conditionality*, in which donor requirements become so patronising or onerous that partner governments and agencies cannot operate effectively. And we must be explicit: innovations to deliver better protection to the poorest and most at risk often require a benign political environment—something that cannot be taken for granted, particularly in fragile and conflict-affected countries.

A fundamental failing of existing aid arrangements has been the negotiation with donors in times of need, which undermines partner governments' dignity and legitimacy.

As Ato Sufian Ahmed, previously a long-serving minister of finance for the government of Ethiopia, reminded the working group, a fundamental failing of existing aid arrangements has been the negotiation with donors in times of need, which undermines partner governments' dignity and legitimacy. A contract to deliver funding, in contrast, holds donors, agencies, and partner governments all equally to account. That conforms more closely with the principle, agreed in Paris, of *mutual accountability*. It helps address donors' concerns that pre-commitment means they will end up supporting odious regimes. And it does so in a way that many current funding tools cannot. [9]

Acknowledge Basis Risk

Making aid more predictable by attaching financing to clear conditions for disbursement has many benefits. But an important caveat to making payouts contingent on these triggers is that, in some cases, a contract may be activated even when a situation does not merit a payout, or that a payout may not arrive when needed because a trigger has not formally been breached. *Basis risk* is the term of art for this mismatch between the triggers on which contracts are designed and the situations that payouts from those contracts are meant to tackle. A low-intensity storm might not trigger a payout, for example, but it could damage a weakened sea wall and cause flooding. In that case, losses will be high without being covered by the insurance policy. (Annex B sets out the links between types of contracts and the level of basis risk in greater detail.)

This is not a theoretical possibility. In 2016, ARC, the sovereign risk pools in sub-Saharan Africa, experienced a large mismatch between its modeled loss and actual reported losses. Joint assessments pointed to more than 6 million people needing aid, but ARC's model calculated just 21,000. [10] Similarly, the Solomon Islands dropped out of PCRAFI, the Pacific cousin to ARC, in 2014 after experiencing two violent storms without seeing a payout. [11]

Thoughtful design for triggers and contracts will limit basis risk but cannot eliminate it. We must be particularly alive to this risk as we graduate from ex-post aid to predictable, pre-agreed finance. Most importantly, the proposition is not to develop risk finance strategies to eliminate basis risk; that is not realistic. Instead, it is to lower overall costs through a shift to more predictable emergency aid, thereby liberating donor funding to deal with basis risk and uninsurable costs. Put differently, governments, agencies, and donors currently treat all risks as if they were basis risk; a shift to risk financing will drastically lower this share but cannot reduce it to zero.

Leverage Global Consensus

Investing in smarter disaster finance is timely, capturing a growing groundswell of support for greater effort on risk reduction and a larger push for reform in humanitarian and emergency funding.

We identify at least four broad areas of relevant, high-level policy consensus. First, the **Sendai Framework** focuses on both investing in resilience and transferring risks, including transferring them to the insurance sector. Second, in May 2016, governments and humanitarian agencies, pressured by a mismatch between available funding and growing needs, collaborated on articulating a "**Grand Bargain**" for humanitarian reform. Third, many climate change initiatives have brought more attention to the role investments in resilience can play in lowering future costs and in enabling poor people to deal with the consequences of global warming. And, finally, meeting the ambitious **Sustainable Development Goals** requires locking in development progress that is explicitly threatened by vulnerability and ineffective disaster response.

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (2015–30) marks a shift in thinking from disaster response to risk management and explicitly promotes risk transfer.
The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction. A concerted global policy effort has been focused on natural disaster risks for several decades. The Decade for Natural Disaster Reduction began in 1989, leading into the Yokohama Strategy in 1994 and the Hyogo Framework in 2005. The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction (2015–30) marks a shift in thinking from disaster response to risk management and explicitly promotes risk transfer of the kind the working group discusses here. [12] Importantly, it articulates a new consensus about working effectively with the private sector.

The Grand Bargain for humanitarian reform. In May 2016, over nine thousand participants came together for the World Humanitarian Summit in Istanbul to articulate a "Grand Bargain," embracing the need for reform in the humanitarian system that would stress longer-term planning and funding. Applying insurance principles to emergency aid helps solve some of the short-falls the Grand Bargain is intended to address and frees up disaster response money for other areas of humanitarian assistance.

Climate change initiatives. The Paris Agreement of 2015 seeks to limit greenhouse gas emissions and support adaptation to adverse impacts of climate change, and it calls on rich countries to give developing countries the financial support they need to make this transition. [13] It also explicitly includes risk insurance and risk pooling as an area of cooperation to confront the effects of more violent weather.

The Sustainable Development Goals. The SDGs [14] aim to end poverty and ensure prosperity for all through an ambitious agenda of 17 goals and 169 targets to be accomplished by 2030. Disasters, both natural and man-made, specifically undermine that development progress. The Addis Ababa Action Agenda sets out how to finance the SDGs and promotes the involvement of the private sector as both a funder for development programmes and a source of expertise. The agenda mentions "private sector" eighteen times, as many times as it mentions "international cooperation." [15]

> Smarter financing for better disaster response dovetails with and catalyses all these areas of new, high-level political consensus.

Smarter financing for better disaster response dovetails with and catalyses all these areas of new, high-level political consensus. It helps ensure development gains are not eroded through poorly managed crises. It builds our shared resilience to the imminent threat of climate change. It instigates a win–win collaboration with private sector capital and know-how. And it achieves ambitions articulated in consecutive risk reduction frameworks, makes emergency assistance both leaner and more effective, and frees up badly needed bandwidth and funding for unpredictable or protracted crises.

Notes

[1] Heinzelman and Waters, 2010.

[2] Katz, 2013.

[3] Peltzman, 1975.

[4] McKenzie, 2014.

[5] Economic theory is clear about the risk that helping after disasters can reduce incentives to invest in preparing for them. Of course, this is simple to assert on the basis of economic theory but harder to demonstrate clearly in the data. As with showing the value of risk financing more generally, doing so requires us to have a valid counterfactual. This is often difficult, because it means comparing levels of resilience investments for two countries, the *only* difference between which is their expected levels of ex-post disaster assistance.

[6] African Risk Capacity (ARC), 2015.

[7] Raschky and Schwindt, 2016.

[8] Swaroop et al.,1999.

[9] Svensson, 2000.

[10] The Economist, 2016.

[11] Cain, 2015.

[12] United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR), 2015.

[13] United Nations, 2015.

[14] United Nations General Assembly, 2015b.

[15] United Nations General Assembly, 2015a.

Four Actions to Make Payouts Predictable

1. Pivot Funding

Donors already have begun to innovate by establishing pooled, flexible funding for disaster response. These funds remain less effective than they could be; most disaster financing is only available after a hazard arrives. This gives the appearance of improving on unpredictable ex-post aid without actually enabling planning ahead, mobilising early response, or encouraging investments in resilience. The World Bank's Crisis Response Window, for example, mobilises concessional lending in months. When finance is tied to external triggers, funding arrives within weeksas is already the case for the sovereign risk pools of ARC, CCRIF, and PCRAFI.

A core innovation is to build ex-ante planning into existing ex-post windows.

A core innovation is to build ex-ante planning into existing ex-post windows, pivoting funding that is already available away from response to events and toward anticipation and shifts in risk. Donors should reform existing facilities so countries and agencies can pre-enroll for this *contingent funding*. If approved, they would have insurance-like coverage. Building on lessons from matching financing to planning in existing programmes, like ARC, eligibility could depend on disaster risk reduction investments, planning, or pre-positioning of supplies.

Table 9-1. How to Pivot Funding

Donors

Reform existing ex-post windows to allow countries to pre-enroll for disbursement if a sufficiently severe hazard happens, based on a clear plan or investments in risk reduction.

Agencies

Collaborate with governments on designing disaster response plans

Integrate your planning with governments; articulate and deliver on your comparative advantage.

Governments

Invest time and effort in advance of future disasters.

Vote with your feet for pre-agreed finance instead of appeals and other ex-post aid.

Insurers

Work with governments and others, including through an advisory facility (discussed above), to develop model-based assessments of risk.

2. Reward Planning, Resilience, and Equity

It is difficult to pin down how much the global public sector invests in lowering the costs of future disasters. Certainly, many donors fund preparedness and other risk prevention programmes. And some investments in protection are not recorded as such; better school buildings, for instance, contribute to resilience but do not get recorded as *disaster risk reduction* in international aid statistics. But there is broad agreement that the level of this spending is lower than it should be, and that programmes do not tie payouts tomorrow to a requirement for better risk management today.

> Concessional insurance or providing contingent funding should be attached to requirements for more and better risk management.

Pre-agreeing funding and supporting risk transfer gives the global public sector a valuable way to encourage the protected and insured—especially national governments—to invest more in risk reduction. Concessional insurance or providing contingent funding should be attached to requirements for more and better risk management. This should not be construed as *aid conditionality* but as a normal part of a contract that articulates shared responsibility for protection. Pricing the cost of future risks forces governments and key line ministries to confront the costs of inaction. Acknowledging these *contingent liabilities* can, therefore, shift political incentives, while investing in resilience lowers the cost of insurance or the amount of money that must be ring-fenced against future risks, or both.

Table 9-2. How to Reward Planning, Resilience, and Equity

Donors

Articulate a clear offer that supports risk transfer and sets out steps to invest in disaster risk reduction.

Help source concessional finance for build-out costs of resilience.

Agencies

Begin an internal discussion about where planning ahead pays off. Which early responses work well, and which of those can you do well?

Develop financial procedures that work well with donor systems, including procedures to pool donor funding for premium payments.

Governments

Propose attractive risk reduction investments that could supplement risk transfer.

Work with donors to fund risk reduction from new climate and resilience funds or from concessional funding, like IDA project balances.

Insurers

Accept rigorous new transparency requirements that come with public procurement.

Develop financial procedures that work well with donor systems, including procedures to pool donor funding for premium payments.

3. Give Technical Advice

Governments, agencies, and donors will not invest in concessional insurance to support risk transfer if they do not understand the market or cannot defend the prices they pay. [1] Because they have different mandates and human resources than the insurance industry, frontline organisations and governments have little internal understanding of risk finance. As a result, they not have the expertise to broker their own insurance arrangements and are not likely to develop it.

The working group emphasised the value of an advisory facility that can give agencies and authorities genuinely independent advice. The facility would be a trusted, neutral advisor to bridge the public (governments and agencies) and private (insurers) sectors. That, in turn, would have the crucial benefit of helping organisations and sovereigns parcel out and price their risk. As a conduit between the public and private sectors, the facility should also contain civil society and frontline agency expertise to make sure financing arrangements capture the realities of disaster response in fragile and low-capacity countries—environments in which the insurance industry often has less durable expertise.

Designing such a facility presents two challenges. First, there is a risk of perceived or real bias. A small number of people can staff this kind of an institution; they will be from the insurance industry. It is essential to acknowledge this problem and to police strong ethical walls between advice and decisions about purchasing. Second, there are risks of free riding. Risk transfer agreements are unusual in public procurement. Normally, an agency or national authority can define requirements and narrow down the set of suppliers. Insurance presents the inverse: a small group can do the initial work to price the risk so it can be competitively transferred and then be faced with other players competing for the same deal.

Genuinely independent technical advice is a public good: there are not enough private incentives to provide it even though there are high social returns from having it.

As a result of both these points, genuinely independent technical advice is a public good: there are not enough private incentives to provide it even though there are high social returns from having it. This makes a strong case for public intervention.

Table 9-3. How to Give Technical Advice

Donors

Invest in and scale up an independent, arm's-length advisory facility.

Focus on making agencies and governments informed buyers and co-purchasers.

Require clear ethical walls in procurement that separate the people giving advice from the firms providing insurance contracts.

Open eligibility windows for both governments and frontline agencies.

Agencies

Arrive prepared. Be clear about the risks you face and the benefits of risk transfer.

Be realistic. Risk transfer is not a Ponzi scheme; insurance contracts on average pay less than you or donors will spend on them.

Focus on insurable risks. Everything can be insured, but not everything can be insured for the right price.

Governments

Work across ministries to recognise which threats cause the greatest risk to state capacity, economic stability, and citizens' lives and welfare.

Be clear to donors about which risks demand more predictable financing and why their support makes sense.

Insurers

Be honest with management about the level of engagement you need. Working with the public sector requires patience.

Acknowledge the risks of conflicts of interest, real or perceived, and mitigate them up front.

Compete on a level playing field. Offering subsidised prices to capture market share will only make the market unsustainable.

4. Catalyse the Market

To dramatically scale up risk transfer, donors need to support concessional insurance alongside and for agencies and authorities.

To dramatically scale up risk transfer, donors need to support concessional insurance alongside and for agencies and authorities. The global public sector has shied away from paying premiums to insurers. Instead, the approach has mainly been to provide concessional insurance through regional pools like ARC, PCRAFI, and CCRIF. While setting up sovereign risk pools (and new bureaucracies to manage them) has been a very valuable innovation, it is expensive and ultimately beholden to political processes. These pools generally do not cater to frontline agencies. And they do not take the most direct route from risk layering to risk transfer. The development community has embraced concessional loans, guarantees, and equity. Now it can radically improve disaster aid by taking advantage of concessional insurance through investing in risk transfer contracts rather than bespoke and expensive risk transfer institutions.

> The development community has embraced concessional loans, guarantees, and equity. Now it can radically improve disaster aid by taking advantage of concessional insurance through investing in risk transfer contracts rather than bespoke and expensive risk transfer institutions.

None of the advantages of pre-agreement should be interpreted to mean that donors must agree to pay specific amounts for specific risks. If those promises were credible, it might be a good way to incentivise smarter response on the back of future development spending. But donors generally struggle to commit to funding contingent liabilities because they do not want public bodies to write contracts they might not be able to honour, and because donors, like governments, get risk estimates wrong or face pressures to spend money in their coffers, or both.

Holding money against a portfolio of future risks would require donors to work and think like insurers, something they are not as good at as insurers themselves. And it would require them to estimate the chance that future risks will materialise, applying modeling and statistical expertise that insurers have developed as condition of avoiding bankruptcy.

Scaling up the use of risk transfer contracts would solve commitment problems that undermine the reliability of funding when crises hit. It would *leverage* scarce donor funding, allowing smaller budget lines to provide more coverage. It would create a platform for collaboration among donors, agencies, and government, so that none of these is a passive end user of better protection but rather a central stakeholder that can inform smarter risk management and more accurate risk models. All of this, in turn, would free up scarce development funding for response to situations that are not insurable, or not insurable at the right price.

Table 9-4. How to Catalyse the Market

Donors

Invest in pooled funding to provide risk transfer for clearly articulated future costs and in exchange for commitments for risk reduction and preparedness.

Collaborate with frontline governments and agencies to develop risk finance strategies.

Prepare a clear value for money case. Providing predictable support will cost less than and be more effective than unpredictable, ex-post aid.

Agencies

Take advantage of technical advice to make the case for risk transfer as an investable proposition for your donors.

Confront basis risk. There is a chance things will go wrong and contracts will not pay out. This risk, too, is part of a risk finance strategy.

Mobilise internal funding. More certainty and leverage are good whether or not donors fund concessional insurance; co-financing will make a stronger investment case to donors.

Governments

Propose attractive risk reduction investments that could supplement risk transfer.

Take advantage of multilateral support. Technical assistance from the World Bank and others will help you understand your *layers* of risk.

Make a smart case to donors and supporters for what *your* risk transfer arrangements will deliver.

Insurers

Accept rigorous and new transparency requirements that will come with donor-backed procurement.

Develop financial procedures that work well with donor systems, including procedures to pool funding from several donors for single premium payments.

Iterate catastrophe models and acknowledge when you get it wrong. Sometimes accurate models generate basis risk; sometimes, they are flawed.

Notes

^[1] This is not an original point. A fundamental observation in the economics of information is that modest differences in information between buyers and sellers can choke off mutually beneficial exchange.

Conclusion

Imagine if donors pooled their political and financial resources to set up an insurance organisation—call it *worldInsure*—to respond to the full range of humanitarian and emergency situations that befall vulnerable countries. Because of the politicised nature of how it would be developed, staffed, and managed, *worldInsure* would operate under very idiosyncratic, highly opaque rules. It would pay out **unpredictably**, awarding very different amounts for similar emergencies, depending on where those emergencies happened or the level of media coverage they received. It could not **agree in advance** on how much it would pay, or under what conditions, or to which agencies or government programmes in affected countries. And, no matter how predictable the future crises were, it would fail to create incentives to **reduce future losses**.

> Even with generous financing from the global public sector, *worldInsure* would be insolvent.

Even with generous financing from the global public sector, *worldInsure* would be insolvent. It might pay out for disasters, but not fairly, transparently, or predictably. That unpredictability would make it difficult for agencies and governments to plan response. Without transferring risks by signing contracts against future costs, it would leave many crises shortchanged.

The working group's core proposition is to upend this paradigm by moving from funding risk to risk finance.

In short, this model would fail. Yet this is the precisely the predominant approach to rendering aid after disasters strike. The working group's core proposition is to upend this paradigm by **moving from funding risk to risk finance.** Contracts, unlike uncertain promises, pay out reliably, quickly, and on time. They provide an entry point for better policies around risk reduction and early response. And they enable and reward planning by establishing predictability, while creating an opportunity for more and better investments in risk reduction to lower vulnerability.

The most conservative estimate of \$2 billion annually in disaster aid from OECD donors is a comparatively small share of total humanitarian aid, which also goes to assist families affected by long-term, unpredictable, and expensive crises, like the war in Syria. But, as the old joke goes, a billion here, a billion there, and pretty soon you're talking real money. Investing in predictability where we can frees up the funding we badly need for other, unpredictable emergencies.

Matching financing to planning for smarter disaster response will save lives, money, and time. It will leverage scarce donor funding during a time of pressure on aid budgets. And it will enable donors to work closely and effectively with frontline governments and agencies. Most importantly, it will result in lower risks and deliver faster, better assistance to people affected by disaster. That is what vulnerable families need—and deserve.

References

Adaman, Fikret. 2012. "Power Inequalities in Explaining the Link between Natural Hazards and Unnatural Disasters." *Development and Change* 43 (1): 395–407.

African Risk Capacity (ARC). 2014. "African Risk Capacity: An African–Led Strategy for Managing Extreme Weather Risks. Second Forum of the Standing Committee on Finance." UNFCCC, Montego Bay, June 21–22. Accessed November 22, 2016. https://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_and_support/financial_mechanism/ standing_committee/application/pdf/s4_syroka_african_risk_capacity_unfccc_scf_21-22_june_2014_final.pdf .

-------. 2015. "The Cost of Drought in Africa." Accessed March 3, 2016. http://www.african-riskcapacity.org/documents/350251/371107/ARC_Cost_of_Drought_EN.pdf.

-------. 2016. "Fact Sheet: Replica Coverage." Accessed May 4, 2016. http://www.african-riskcapacity.org/documents/350251/371107/Replica+Coverage+flyer+EN.pdf.

Bailey, Robert. 2012. Famine Early Warning and Early Action: The Cost of Delay. London: Chatham House.

Baudot, Caroline, and Debbie Hillier. 2016. "A Preventable Crisis: El Niño and La Niña Events Need Earlier Responses and a Renewed Focus on Prevention."

Bhavnani, Rakhi. 2006. "Natural Disaster Conflicts ." Harvard University. Unpublished manuscript. Accessed November 18, 2016. http://www.disasterdiplomacy.org/bhavnanisummary.pdf .

Birdsall, Nancy, Liliana Rojas-Suarez, and Anna Diofasi. 2017. "Expanding Global Liquidity Insurance: Myths and Realities of the IMF's Precautionary Credit Lines." CGD Working Paper 449. Washington DC: Center for Global Development. Accessed March 1, 2017. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/expanding-global-liquidity-insurance-myths-realities-IMFcredit-lines <u>.</u>

BMZ. 2015. "Insuring 180 Million More People against Climate Risks: Germany Is Working with the Other G7 Countries to Support the Climate Risk Insurance Initiative InsuResilience." Press release. Accessed January 4, 2017. https://www.bmz.de/de/zentrales_downloadarchiv/Presse/-BMZ_Insuresilience_Press_release_05122015_EN.pdf.

Brockerhoff, Martin. 1999. "Urban Growth in Developing Countries: A Review of Projections and Predictions." *Population and Development Review* 25 (4): 757–78.

Cai, W., S. Borlace, M. Lengaigne, P. Van Rensch, M. Collins, G. Vecchi, and M. H. England. 2014. "Increasing Frequency of Extreme El Niño Events Due to Greenhouse Warming." *Nature Climate Change* 4 (2): 111–16.

Cain, Tess N. 2015. "Is the Pacific Catastrophe Risk Insurance Scheme an Example of Successful Pooled Service Delivery?" *DevPolicyBlog from the Development Policy Centre*. Accessed November 10, 2016. http://devpolicy.org/in-brief/is-the-pacific-catastrophe-risk-insurance-scheme-an-example-of-successful-pooled-service-delivery-20150408/.

Caribbean Catastrophe Risk Insurance Facility (CCRIF) SPC. 2015. *Annual Report 2014–2015*. CCRIF: Cayman Islands. http://www.ccrif.org/sites/default/files/publications/CCRIF-SPC_Annual_Report_2014_2015.pdf .

Centers for Disease Control. 2014. "Ebola Outbreak in West Africa—Reported Cases Graphs." Accessed August 19, 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/vhf/ebola/outbreaks/2014-west-africa/cumu-lative-cases-graphs.html

Chagutah, Tigere. 2006. "Recent Floods in the Zambezi Basin: A Result of Climate Change? *The Zambezi* 6 (3): 1–7.

Checchi, Francesco, and W. Courtland Robinson. 2013. "Mortality among Populations of Southern and Central Somalia Affected by Severe Food Insecurity and Famine during 2010–2012." Commissioned by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)/Food Security and Nutrition Analysis Unit of the United Nations—Somalia (FSNAU) and the Famine Early Warning Systems Network (FEWS NET). Accessed January 31, 2017. http://www.fsnau.org/in-focus/study-report-mortality-among-populations-southern-and-central-somalia-affected-severe-food-.

Clarke, Daniel, and Stefan Dercon. 2015. "Insurance, Credit, and Safety Nets for the Poor in a World of Risk." Financing for Overcoming Economic Insecurity, 85.

-------. 2016. Dull Disasters? How Planning Ahead Will Make a Difference. Oxford UK: Oxford University Press.

Clarke, Daniel, Olivier Mahul, Richard Poulter, and Tse Ling Teh. 2016. "Evaluating Sovereign Disaster Risk Finance Strategies: A Framework." World Bank Policy Research Working Paper. Washington DC: World Bank.

De Janvry, Alain, Alejandro del Valle, and Elisabeth Sadoulet. 2016. "Insuring Growth: The Impact of Disaster Funds on Economic Reconstruction in Mexico." Policy Research Working Paper No. 7714. World Bank. Washington DC.

Dercon, Stefan. "Growth and shocks: evidence from rural Ethiopia." Journal of Development Economics 74.2 (2004): 309-329.

Deloitte Access Economics. 2013. "Building Our Nation's Resilience to Natural Disasters. Report for the Australian Business Roundtable for Disaster Resilience and Safer Communities." http://australianbusinessroundtable.com.au/assets/documents/White%20Paper%20Sections/DAE%20Roundtable%20Paper%20June%202013.pdf .

Development Initiatives. 2013. *Global Humanitarian Assistance Report 2013*. Accessed January 28, 2017. http://www.globalhumanitarianassistance.org/report/gha-report-2013/.

Devereux, Stephen. 2002. "The Malawi Famine of 2002." IDS Bulletin 33 (4): 70-78.

De Waal, Alexander. 1997. Famine Crimes: Politics & the Disaster Relief Industry in Africa. Bloomington IN: Indiana University Press.

_____. 2008. "On Famine Crimes and Tragedies." The Lancet 372 (9649): 1538-39.

Economist, The . 2004. "Counting the Cost. Devastating—But It Might Have Been Even Worse in the Caribbean." September 16. Accessed March 10, 2016. http://www.economist.com/node/3203348.

———. 2016. "ARC's Covenant: A Worthy Insurance Scheme Goes Awry." August 27. Accessed November 10, 2016. http://www.economist.com/news/finance-and-economics/21705856-worthy-insurance-scheme-goes-awry-arcs-covenant.

Felbermayr, Gabriel, and Jasmin Gröschl. "Naturally negative: The growth effects of natural disasters." *Journal of Development Economics* 111 (2014): 92-106.

Feinstein International Center. 2016. "USAID Early Response to Drought in Pastoralist Areas: Lessons from the USAID Crisis Modifier in East Africa." Friedman School of Nutrition Science and Policy. Tufts University. http://karamojaresilience.org/images/what-we-do/crisis-modifier-review/usaid-crisis-modifier-review_final_draft_jan_2016.pdf.

Ferreira, Francisco H. G., and Norbert Schady. 2009. "Aggregate Economic Shocks, Child Schooling, and Child Health." *World Bank Research Observer* 24 (2): 147–81.

Field, Christopher B., ed. 2012. Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation: Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change . Cambridge UK: Cambridge University Press.

Giné, Xavier, Robert Townsend, and James Vickery. 2008. "Patterns of Rainfall Insurance Participation in Rural India." *World Bank Economic Review* 22 (3): 539–66.

Giné, Xavier, and Dean Yang. 2009. "Insurance, Credit, and Technology Adoption: Field Experimental Evidence from Malawi." *Journal of Development Economics* 89 (1): 1–11. Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR). 2015. "Identifying Risks and Guiding Recovery Efforts in Malawi." https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/Malawi_SoI.pdf.

-------. 2016. "Supporting Resilient Recovery in Vanuatu after Cyclone Pam." Accessed January 14, 2017. https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/Vanuatu_SoI.pdf .

Gollier, C., and J. W. Pratt. 1996 "Risk Vulnerability and the Tempering Effect of Background Risk." *Econometrica* 64 (5): 1109–23.

Guha-Sapir, D., R. Below, Ph. Hoyois. 2015. EM-DAT: International Disaster Database. Université Catholique de Louvain, Brussels. www.emdat.be.

Hallegatte, Stéphane, Mook Bangalore, and Francis Samson Nkoka. 2015. "Recent Floods in Malawi Hit the Poorest Areas: What This Implies." Washington DC: World Bank. http://blogs.-worldbank.org/voices/recent-floods-malawi-hit-poorest-areas-what-implies .

Heinzelman, Jessica, and Carol Waters. 2010. Crowdsourcing Crisis Information in Disaster-Affected Haiti. Washington DC: US Institute of Peace.

Heltberg, Rasmus, Paul Bennett Siegel, and Steen Lau Jorgensen. 2009. "Addressing Human Vulnerability to Climate Change: Toward a 'No-Regrets' Approach." *Global Environmental Change* 19 (1): 89–99.

Her Majesty's Treasury (HMT). 2016. "Insurance linked securities: consultation." Accessed March 17,2016. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/- attachment_data/file/504046/Insurance_linked_securities_consultation.pdf

Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) and the European Commission. 2017. "INFORM Index." Accessed February 9, 2017. http://www.inform-index.org/.

Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC). 2016. Global Internal Displacement Database (GIDD). http://www.internal-displacement.org/.

International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2016. "Small States' Resilience to Natural Disasters and

Climate Change—Role for the IMF." IMF policy paper. December. https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2016/110416.pdf.

Kahn, Matthew. 2005. "The Death Toll from Natural Disasters: The Role of Income, Geography, and Institutions." *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 87 (2): 271–84.

Karim, Mohammed Fazlul, and Nobuo Mimura. 2008. Impacts of Climate Change and Sea-Level Rise on Cyclonic Storm Surge Floods in Bangladesh. *Global Environmental Change* 18 (3): 490–500.

Katz, Jonathan M. 2013. The Big Truck that Went By: How the World Came to Save Haiti and Left Behind a Disaster. Macmillan.

Kellett, Jan, and Alice Caravani. 2013. "Financing Disaster Risk Reduction: A 20-Year Story of International Aid." http://www.gfdrr.org/sites/gfdrr/files/publication/Financing-DRR_Publication_0.pdf.

Kellett, Jan, and Dan Sparks. 2012. "Disaster Risk Reduction: Spending Where It Should Count." *Global Humanitarian Assistance*.

Kim, Namsuk. 2012. "How much more exposed are the poor to natural disasters? Global and regional measurement." *Disasters*, 36(2), pp.195-211.

Livestock Information Network Knowledge System. 2017. Accessed February 2, 2017. http://www.lmiset.net/Pages/Public/Home.aspx .

Mahul, Olivier, Samuel Cook, and Barry Bailey. 2015. Advancing Disaster Risk Financing & Insurance in the Pacific. Washington DC: World Bank.

McKenzie, Richard B. 2014. "Professor Gordon Tullock: A Personal Remembrance." December 1. Library of Economics and Liberty. Accessed February 6, 2017. http://www.econlib.org/library/Columns/y2014/McKenzieTullock.html .

McKinsey & Company. 2013. Could Third-Party Capital Transform The Reinsurance Markets? Accessed November 19, 2016. http://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/dotcom/client_service/Financial%20Services/Latest%20thinking/Insurance/Could_third-party_capital_transform_the_reinsurance_markets.ashx .

Mechler, Reinhard. 2004. Natural Disaster Risk Management and Financing Disaster Losses in Developing Countries. Vol. 1. Verlag Versicherungswirtsch.

Moody's. 2016a. "Approach to Assessing Climate Change Risks for Sovereign Issuers." Gated: http://www.moodys.com/viewresearchdoc.aspx?docid=PBC_1039339.

------. 2016b. "Caribbean Sovereigns: The Silent Debt Crisis." Gated: http://www.moodys.-com/viewresearchdoc.aspx?docid=PBC_1014413 .

Munich Re. 2015. Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft, Geo Risks Research, NatCat-SERVICE. Munich: Munich Re. Nel, Philip, and Marjolein Righarts. 2008. "Natural Disasters and the Risk of Violent Civil Conflict." *International Studies Quarterly* 52 (1): 159–85.

Norwegian Refugee Council and Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre. 2015. *Global Estimates 2015: People Displaced by Disasters*. Accessed January 3, 2017. http://www.internal-displacement.org/assets/library/Media/201507-globalEstimates-2015/20150713-global-estimates-2015en-v1.pdf.

Oramas-Dorta, Delioma, Nicola Ranger, and Swenja Surminski. 2012. "ClimateWise: Compendium of Disaster Risk Transfer Initiatives in the Developing World." http://www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/business-action/sustainable- finance/climatewise/pdfs/climatewise-compendium-ofdisaster-risk-transfer.xlsm .

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2016. Creditor Reporting System (CRS) Aid Activities Database. Accessed January 23, 2017. https://stats.oecd.org/In-dex.aspx?DataSetCode=CRS1.

Overseas Development Institute and Center for Global Development. 2015. "Doing Cash Differently: How Cash Transfers Can Transform Humanitarian Aid Report of the High Level Panel on Humanitarian Cash Transfers." September. Accessed February 14, 2016. http://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9828.pdf .

Park, Susan, and Jonathan R. Strand, eds. 2015. *Global Economic Governance and the Development Practices of the Multilateral Development Banks*. Routledge.

Peltzman, Sam. 1975. "The Effects of Automobile Safety Regulation." *Journal of Political Economy* 83 (4): 677–725.

Ramachandran, Vijaya, and Julie Walz. 2012. "Haiti: Where Has All the Money Gone?" CGD Policy Paper 004. Washington DC: Center for Global Development. http://www.cgdev.org/content/publications/detail/1426185

Raschky, Paul A., and Manijeh Schwindt. 2016. "Aid, Catastrophes and the Samaritan's Dilemma." *Economica* 83: 624–45.

Roache, Sarah, Lawrence O. Gostin, Dan Hougendobler, and Eric Friedman. 2014. "Lessons from the West African Ebola Epidemic: Towards a Legacy of Strong Health Systems ." Briefing paper 10. O'Neill Institute for National & Global Health Law. Washington DC.

Roodman, David. 2010. "Suspend Haiti's Debt—And Take Official Lenders beyond Lending." Blog, CGD: Views from the Center. Accessed February 25th, 2015. http://www.cgdev.org/blog/suspendhaitis-debt-and-take-official-lenders-beyond-lending. Sen, Amartya. 1999. Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Standard & Poor's. 2015. "Storm Alert: Natural Disasters Can Damage Sovereign Creditworthiness." S&P RatingsDirect. Accessed August 15, 2017. http://unepfi.org/pdc/wp-content/up-loads/StormAlert.pdf .

Svensson, Jakob. 2000. "When Is Foreign Aid Policy Credible? Aid Dependence and Conditionality." *Journal of Development Economics* 61 (1): 61–84.

Swaroop, Vinaya, Shantayanan Devarajan, and Andrew Sunil Rajkumar. 1999. "What Does Aid to Africa Finance?" Research Working Papers 1.1: 1–34.

Swiss Re. 2015. "Underinsurance of Property Risks: Closing the Gap." Sigma research publication no. 5/2015. http://www.riskandinsurance.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Swiss-Re_Underinsurance-of-property-risks.pdf.

Taifour, Hassan. 2002. "Nutrition Survey Report: Salima and Mchinji Districts Sep 2002." Save the Children (UK). http://reliefweb.int/report/malawi/malawi-nutrition-survey-report-salima-and-mchinji-districts-sep-2002.

Talbot, Theodore, and Cindy Huang. 2016. "What's So Hard about a Refugee Crisis? Making Displacement a Development Problem." Washington DC: Center for Global Development. Accessed January 3, 2017. http://www.cgdev.org/blog/whats-so-hard-about-refugee-crisis-making-displacement-development-problem .

Talbot, Theodore, and Owen Barder. 2016. "Payouts for Perils: Why Disaster Aid Is Broken, and How Catastrophe Insurance Can Help to Fix It." CGD Policy Paper 087. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. http://www.cgdev.org/publication/payouts-perils-why-disaster-aid-broken-and-how-catastropheinsurance-can-help-fix-it

Tanner, Thomas. 2016. "The Triple Dividend of Resilience—A New Narrative for Disaster Risk Management and Development." In *Realising the "Triple Dividend of Resilience*," ed. Swenja **Surminski** and Thomas **Tanner**. 1–16. Springer International Publishing.

United Nations. 2015. The Paris Agreement. Accessed January 17, 2017. http://unfccc.int/files/essential_background/convention/application/pdf/english_paris_agreement.pdf.

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. 2013. "World Population Prospects: The 2012 Revision." Population Division of the Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat, New York. United Nations General Assembly. 2015a. "Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development." New York: United Nations. Accessed January 17, 2017. http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp? symbol=A/RES/69/313&Lang=E.

———. 2015b. "Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development." New York: United Nations. Accessed January 17, 2017. http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_-doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E.

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2016. *Global Trends Forced Displace*ment 2015. Accessed January 17, 2017. http://www.unhcr.org/576408cd7.pdf

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2015. "Malawi Humanitarian Situation Report." https://www.unicef.org/malawi/MLW_floodresponse_humanitariansitrep18.pdf.

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance (OCHA). 2015. "Financial Tracking Service." Accessed February 23, 2016. https://fts.unocha.org/ .

-------. 2016a. "Country-Based Pooled Funds (CBPFs)." Accessed January 17, 2017. http://www.unocha.org/what-we-do/humanitarian-financing/country-based-pooled-funds .

———. 2016b. "Natural Disasters 2016 Summary of Funding (per Donor)." Accessed January 17, 2017. https://ftsarchive.unocha.org/reports/daily/ocha_R9_Y2016___1701190230.pdf.

United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNISDR). 2015. "Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030." Accessed January 17, 2017. http://www.unisdr.org/files/43291_sendaiframeworkfordrren.pdf .

United States Agency for International Development (USAID). 2015. "Report of Voluntary Agencies." Accessed January 3, 2017. https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1866/Volag2015.pdf.

Venton, Courtenay Cabot, Catherine Fitzgibbon, Tenna Shitarek, Lorraine Coulter, and Olivia Dooley. 2012. *The Economics of Early Response and Disaster Resilience: Lessons from Kenya and Ethiopia*. London: DFID.

Watson, John T., Michelle Gayer, and Maire A. Connolly. 2007. "Epidemics after Natural Disasters." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 13 (1): 1.

Willis Towers Watson. 2014. "The Role of Insurance and Reinsurance in Disaster

Risk Management and Risk Mitigation." Accessed February 12, 2016. https://www.ucl.ac.uk/rdr/seminars/david-simmons-slides . Woo, Gordon. 2015. Fighting Emerging Pandemics With Catastrophe Bonds. Risk Management Solutions. Accessed March 04, 2016. http://www.rms.com/blog/2015/01/28/fighting-emerg-ing-pandemics-with-catastrophe-bonds/.

World Bank. 2009. "Grenada: Dealing with the Aftermath of Hurricane Ivan." http://web.-worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/NEWS/0,,-contentMDK:22324886~pagePK:34370~piPK:34424~theSitePK:4607,00.html.

-------. 2012. People, Pathogens and Our Planet, Volume 2: The Economics of One Health. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/612341468147856529/pdf/691450ESW0whit0D0ESW120P PPvol120web.pdf.

———. 2014. "Análisis de los impactos de las inversiones en prevención y reducción de riesgos: Estudio de caso de Tabasco entre 2007 y 2010" [Analysis of the Impacts of Investments in Prevention and Risk Reduction: A Case Study from Tabasco between 2007 and 2010]. Washington DC: World Bank.

———. 2015a. "Kenya Toward a National Crop and Livestock Insurance Program: Background Report." October. Accessed November 21, 2017. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/24444.

———. 2015b. "Major Support from World Bank to Rehabilitate Malawi's Flood Damaged Infrastructure and Livelihoods." Press release. May 7. Accessed January 11, 2017. http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2015/05/07/major-support-from-world-bank-to-rehabilitate-malawis-flood-damaged-infrastructure-and-livelihoods.

– – – 2015c. "Dominica Lost Almost All Its GDP Due to Climate Change." Press release, December 1. Accessed November 17, 2016.

http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2015/12/01/dominica-lost-almost-all-gdp-cli-mate-change.

———. 2016. "PCRAFI Facility: Phase II, Enhancing the Financial Resilience of Pacific Island Countries against Natural Disaster and Climate Risk."

http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/178911475802966585/PCRAFI-4-pager-web.pdf.

World Bank Group, ed. 2015. *World Development Indicators 2015*. Washington DC: World Bank Publications.

Working Group

Co-Chairs

Dr. Stefan Dercon is Chief Economist at the Department for International Development in London. He is also Professor of Economic Policy at the University of Oxford, associated to the Blavatnik School of Government and the Economics Department, and a Fellow of Jesus College. He is also Director of the Centre for the Study of African Economies at Oxford. Previously, he has held positions teaching economics at the University of Leuven (Belgium) and Addis Ababa University.

Owen Barder is a Vice President, Director for Europe, and a Senior Fellow at the Center for Global Development. He is also a Visiting Professor in Practice at the London School of Economics. Barder was a British civil servant from 1988 to 2010, during which time he worked in No.10 Downing Street, as Private Secretary (Economic Affairs) to the Prime Minister; in the UK Treasury, including as Private Secretary to the Chancellor of the Exchequer; and in the Department for International Development, where he was variously Director of International Finance and Global Development Effectiveness, Director of Communications and Information, and head of the Africa Policy & Economics Department.

Working Group Members



Dr. Alex de Waal is the executive director of the World Peace Foundation and a research professor at The Fletcher School, Tufts University. He is one of the foremost experts on Sudan and the Horn of Africa, humanitarian crisis and response, human rights, HIV/AIDS and governance in Africa, and conflict and peacebuilding. Previously, he worked for several Africa-focused human rights organizations, especially on avenues to peaceful resolution of the second Sudanese Civil War. He was a member of the African Union mediation team for Darfur (2005–2006) and senior adviser to the African Union High-Level Implementation Panel for Sudan (2009–2012).



Alice P. Albright is the Chief Executive Officer of the Global Partnership for Education, overseeing a global fund and multilateral partnership organization made up of over 60 developing country governments. Albright served in the Obama Administration as the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Export-Import Bank of the United States. From 2001 to 2009 she served as the Chief Financial and Investment Officer for the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunizations and was named head of GAVI's Washington DC office in 2003.



Aniket Shah is the program leader for the Financing for Sustainable Development Initiative at the Sustainable Development Solutions Network and the SDG Center for Africa. In these roles, Shah works with governments, international institutions, and investors to develop strategies to finance the SDGs. He has been seconded from Investec Asset Management since 2014. Prior to this, Shah worked at The Earth Institute at Columbia University, where he was special assistant to the Director, and prior to that, he was an investment banker at Goldman Sachs & Co., where he focused on mergers and acquisitions in the Financial Services Group. He is a doctoral candidate at the University of Oxford's Smith School of Enterprise and the Environment.



Dr. Cindy Huang is a visiting policy fellow at CGD. She works on issues related to refugees, fragile and conflict-affected states, gender equality, development effectiveness, and strengthening US development policy. Most recently, Huang was the Deputy Vice President for Sector Operations at the Millennium Challenge Corporation where she oversaw the strategic direction and implementation of a \$2 billion portfolio of social sector investments. She also served in the Obama Administration as the director of policy of the State Department's Bureau of Conflict and Stabilisation Operations and as senior advisor to the State Department's counselor and chief of staff.



Dan Preston is a clinical assistant professor, chair of the honors program, and an affiliate faculty member at the Russian and East European Institute at the School of Public and Environmental Affairs (SPEA), Indiana University. His work focuses on finance as a catalyst for international development, policy analysis, international relations, and teaching pedagogy. Prior to SPEA, he held investment banking positions with Citigroup in the United States and France, specializing in economic advisory, debt management, and capital raising for sovereign governments in Europe, Africa, and Asia and securitization programs for corporations in Latin America, the Caribbean, and Japan.



Dr. Daniel Clarke is an actuary and economist who works at the UK Government Actuary's Department, primarily on insurance and risk finance for developing countries. Before this, Clarke spent eight years with the World Bank as a senior disaster risk financing and insurance specialist, where he worked with more than 40 developing country governments to develop cost-effective solutions for enhanced financial protection against disasters. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries and has published papers in a range of peer-reviewed academic journals. He has recently written a book with Stefan Dercon entitled *Dull Disasters? How Planning Ahead Will Make a Difference*.



Debbie Hillier is a Senior Humanitarian Policy Adviser at Oxfam, leading work on DRR and resilience and leading policy work for crises including the Ebola Epidemic and El Niño. For three years she supported crisis response from the Humanitarian Department, including programme development in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. From 2002 to 2010, she has worked in the humanitarian policy team on arms control, working on the development of UK legislation, European arms controls, and most significantly in developing and driving the Control Arms campaign, providing policy, research, and strategic advice to achieve an international Arms Trade Treaty. She has written key think pieces including "A Dangerous Delay" and "No Accident" and a range of crisis-specific policy positions.



Dr. Ginger Turner is Manager, Strategy Development, and chief of staff to the Group Chief Strategy Officer of the reinsurance company Swiss Re. As an economist, she has authored numerous publications on topics in catastrophe risk and insurance, including the behavioural economics of risk-taking after natural disasters, terrorism insurability, mobile distribution in emerging markets, and the global natural disaster underinsurance gap. Turner has worked in the World Bank Office of the Chief Economist, at Goldman Sachs, and at Actis Capital and Pan-African Private Equity in Johannesburg. As an entrepreneur, she helped start Cosmos Ignite, a company that manufactures and distributes affordable household lighting in rural India.



Dr. Gordon Woo is a catastrophist at Risk Management Solutions (RMS), specializing in mathematical modeling of extreme risks, with a particular focus on catastrophe insurance. As both a scientist and a risk analyst, he bridges the knowledge gap between hazard experts and risk stakeholders. Woo completed his PhD at MIT as a Kennedy Scholar and was a member of the Harvard Society of Fellows. He is an adjunct professor at NTU, Singapore, and a visiting professor at University College London.



Dr. Joanna Macrae is the Senior Partnerships Manager at Give-Directly, a US-based NGO that aims to accelerate the scale up of cash-based approaches to address humanitarian and development. Previously, at the UK Department for International Development (DFID), she led the UK's contribution to the World Humanitarian Summit, with a focus on humanitarian financing and new approaches to addressing protracted crises. She also established an award-winning programme to accelerate humanitarian innovation and promote more evidence-based policy and practice.



Rachel Turner is the Director for International Finance in DFID, leading DFID's policy and engagement with the development finance institutions and the private sector. Prior to this role Rachel was the Director for East and Central Africa in DFID, leading policy and programmes in eight countries, including some of the most fragile states in the Horn of Africa. Rachel has over 20 years of development experience in low and middle income countries of Africa, the former Soviet Union and Eastern Europe and with her experience of managing DFID's relationships with global financial institutions, has a strong understanding of public and private sector development issues and wide involvement with the multilateral and bilateral development architecture.



Ravi Gurumurthy is the Chief Innovation Office at the International Rescue Committee, and founder of its innovation center, Airbel. Prior to joining IRC in 2013 as VP for Strategy and Innovation, Gurumurthy held a number of roles in the UK government, including Director of Strategy for the Energy and Climate Change Department, and Strategy Advisor and Speechwriter to the Foreign Secretary, David Miliband.



Rowan Douglas, CBE, is CEO, Capital, Science & Policy Practice, at Willis Towers Watson, a leading global advisory and re/insurance broking company and Chair of the Willis Research Network. He led the creation of the Insurance Development Forum of industry, governments, and international institutions to harness the role of re/insurance to meet the Sustainable Development Goals and wider Post-2015 Agenda and was appointed to lead the Implementation Group of the IDF in May 2016. He has held various appointments within the UN and other international organisations and was made CBE in the 2016 UK New Year's Honours List for services to the economy through risk, insurance, and sustainable growth.



Sean Lowrie has led the Start Network since September 2010, enabling NGOs to realise groundbreaking innovation in the humanitarian sector. Sean has over 26 years' experience in the humanitarian sector, specialising in initiatives for interorganisational collaboration. Beginning his career as an engineer and logistician, Lowrie spent 10 years on the front lines of humanitarian action in Kenya, the DRC, Côte D'Ivoire, Liberia, Swaziland, and Tanzania. Lowrie has a BSc from Queen's University in Canada in Mechanical Engineering and an MPhil in Social Science from King's College London.



Dr. Simon Young is currently Acting Underwriter and Advisor to the African Risk Capacity Insurance Company Ltd, and Advisor to the Capital, Science & Policy Practice at Willis Towers Watson. He has worked in a variety of consulting roles in disaster risk management and financing, including as the founding CEO of ARC Ltd and as CEO of Caribbean Risk Managers, where he was closely involved in the development, implementation, and operations of both the Caribbean Catastrophe Risk Insurance Facility and the Microinsurance Catastrophe Risk Organisation. He has a background in Earth Sciences and worked for the British Geological Survey on a variety of projects, including as Chief Scientist and the first full-time Director of the Montserrat Volcano Observatory during the main phase of the volcanic eruptions on Montserrat between 1995 and 2000.



His Excellency Sufian Ahmed is Advisor to the Prime Minster of Ethiopia. Prior to this, H.E. Mr. Ahmed was Ethiopia's Minister of Finance and Economic Development and is one of Africa's longest serving finance ministers (1996–2015). His Excellency led Ethiopia's Macro team, which is responsible for policy formulation, implementation and monitoring and has contributed to the country's double-digit growth rate for more than 10 years in a row. He served as the General Manager of Ethiopian Customs Authority (1994–95) and has also worked as a lecturer at Jimma College of Agriculture and Addis Ababa University.



William Dalziel is a partner and head of the Institutional Division at London & Capital. Dalziel and his team at London & Capital are involved with all areas of the institutional insurance market, focusing on providing innovative investment solutions. Dalziel was previously a Director for Zurich Financial Services' international business in Latin America and spent seven years based in Miami. He is a faculty member of the International Centre for Captive Insurance Education and part of the editorial board of Captive Review.

Contributors



Claire Horton is Special Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer at the Global Partnership for Education where she leads the Secretariat's work on disaster and risk financing for education. Previously, Horton was Chief Economic Officer in the Financial and Economic Development Unit in the Solomon Islands Ministry of Finance. Prior to this she held positions at the World Bank, initially as a political risk analyst covering the Middle East and North Africa, and then in Strategy and Country Services, where she worked on the global financial crisis response, IBRD graduation, and state and peacebuilding.



Deirdre O'Sullivan-Winks is the Programme Director, ACRE and Inclusive Business at Christian Aid. Prior to this, she was Senior Project Manager for New Business Models at the Start Network where she led the development of innovative financing solutions for more effective humanitarian response and anticipation by international and national NGOs. Deirdre has also worked in International Development for CAFOD, Save the Children International and VSO, and has focused on leveraging private sector approaches to improve the effectiveness and sustainability of longterm development work and humanitarian aid. Her previous career was in Investment Management, mainly at AXA Investment Managers.



Emma Williams is Joint Deputy Head of the private sector division in the UK Department for International Development, where she co-leads the team working on insurance and the financial sector. Prior to this she spent four years in the Ethiopia office leading DFID's work on economic development and climate change. She has worked on climate change for over a decade, including as part of the UK delegation to the UN climate negotiations at Copenhagen in 2009. Before joining DFID she worked in the policy unit at CAFOD, a UK NGO, and for the UK Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs on emission trading. She holds degrees from Cambridge and Sussex Universities.



Ian Clark is Head of Unit for Disaster Risk Management at the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission. Between 2010 and September 2016, he was in charge of a unit dealing with Disaster Risk Reduction, including coordinating the EU position for the negotiation of the UN Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction at the DG for European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations at the European Commission. Previously Ian Clark spent some 16 years working on environment policy for the European Commission.



Sophie Evans is the Programme Director for the Capital, Science, & Policy Practice at Willis Towers Watson, a leading global advisory, broking, and solutions company. The Practice confronts the large-scale challenges of risk and seeks innovative uses of risk management and insurance-related mechanisms to build resilient economies and societies around the world to support sustainable growth. Evans is also the Co-Chair of the Insurance and Humanitarian System Working Group for the Insurance Development Forum, a public/private partnership led by the insurance industry and supported by international organisations, including the World Bank and United Nations. Previously, she was Senior Programme Coordinator for the Planning from the Future Project and worked at the Humanitarian Futures Programme, both based at King's College London.

CGD Leadership



Theodore Talbot is the lead author for the report and led the working group process at CGD. Talbot is a Senior Financial Officer with the World Bank, at the Global Partnership for Education. Previously, he was a Senior Analyst with the Center for Global Development's team in Europe. His work focuses on finance for development, with an emphasis on novel contracts and financing structures that enable development actors to work effectively with the private sector. Raised in India and Ethiopia, Talbot has a bachelor's degree in economics, finance, and politics and an MSc and PhD in economics. During his PhD, he was an ODI Fellow in the Pacific. Before joining CGD, he worked at the Ministry of Planning and Investment in Hanoi.



Caitlin McKee provided valuable research support to this report. McKee is a Research Assistant at CGD's office in London. Before joining CGD she led large-scale household surveys for impact evaluations and RCTs in Tanzania and Uganda for the World Bank, DFID, USAID, and academic institutions. She has also worked on projects for the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation and the UN Environment Programme. McKee started her development career as a Peace Corps volunteer in rural Guatemala working on women's empowerment initiatives.

Annex A: Funding Instruments

The following two sections set out existing aid instruments in greater detail than the main text, summarising their core features. This analysis highlights that a very small share of aid for disasters is matched to pre-agreed risks.

Smooth: Contingent Credit for Natural Hazards

While most humanitarian response funding comes from ex-post emergency grants, a limited but growing number of credit options are available from the World Bank and the IMF. These institutions recognise that disasters can significantly interrupt the development trajectories of a country and so increasingly give technical and financial assistance to national governments to help them prepare for and respond to disasters.

The table below outlines credit options from the World Bank and the IMF that apply most to countries facing crises from natural disasters. This is not a comprehensive list of all credit options available from these institutions. The IMF's Flexible Credit Line (FCL) and the Precautionary and Liquidity Line (PLL), for example, are prearranged tools that address general balance of payment problems only for qualifying countries with strong economic fundamentals, institutional policy frameworks, and track records of policy implementation.

While currently the FCL and PLL have seen limited uptake by only four countries, a recent study provides an in-depth discussion of how these tools could be used more widely. [1] If some of the barriers (perceived or real) were overcome around the various credit tools currently available, they could open additional options for more countries facing natural disasters.

From this table we also exclude Regional Financing Agreements, since they are region-specific, mostly complementary to other tools, and not designed for responding to natural disasters. For reference, these include the Chiang Mai Initiative Multilateralization (CMIM), in thirteen Asian countries; the Contingent Reserve Arrangement (CRA), in the five BRICS countries; the Fondo Latinoamericano de Reservas (FLAR), with eight Latin American countries; and the EU balance of payments assistance (EU BOP), for nineteen Eurozone countries.a

Tool Catastrophe Deferred Drawdown Option (World Bank)

Action

Smooth

Description

Loan product that allows countries to arrange in advance for immediate access to funds in case a "state of emergency" is declared. It is seen as a bridge to start immediate recovery efforts while waiting for other sources of funding to arrive. The country must have a disaster risk management programme in place to be eligible.

Pre-Agreed? Yes

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) \$271

Tool Crisis Response Window (World Bank)

Action Smooth

Description

Mechanism for relatively lower-income IDA countries to get access to additional resources in case of emergency or severe economic crisis. This is a supporting safety net and funding of last resort after other funding mechanisms have been exhausted. The decision to trigger is made by the World Bank's Board of Executive Directors; it usually takes some months to disburse.

Pre-Agreed? No

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) \$75

Tool Immediate Response Mechanism (World Bank)

Action

Smooth

Description

Gives IDA countries access to up to 5% or \$5 million of their undisbursed IDA project balances following a crisis. The funds are available sooner than the CRW following onset of a crisis, within some weeks.

Pre-Agreed? No [2]

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) Limited data available [3]

Tool

Rapid Financing Instrument and Rapid Credit Facility (IMF)

Action Smooth

Description

Loans provided in case of need for an urgent balance of payments adjustment, including following natural disasters. All IMF member countries are eligible for the RFI, while the RCF is available on a concessional basis only to low-income countries.

Pre-Agreed? No

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) \$110 (RCF only) [4]

Transfer: Emergency Grants for Natural Disasters

When a country faces a peril it cannot manage itself, it might fall to the humanitarian aid system to provide for the bulk of assistance through emergency grants, an imperfect type of risk transfer ("transfer" because it is a way of socialising losses, but without the efficiency gains of insurance contracts). The UN system provides four main channels for fulfilling emergency grants. Each of these pools resources from donors for common needs set out under the leadership of an in-country *Humani-tarian Coordinator/Resident Coordinator*, a high-ranking UN official who has been appointed to manage a crisis. The coordinator works with various sector leaders known as "clusters" (both UN and non-UN) to allocate the funds to implementing agencies.

Tool Humanitarian response plans

Action Transfer

Description

Fundraising tools that break down the people in need, the target numbers to be reached, the needs in each sector, and the point person and organisations involved in delivering aid. Donors can contribute directly to the HRP or to one of the pooled funds discussed below, which in turn fund HRPs.

Pre-Agreed? No

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) \$2,276 million (Humanitarian response plans and flash appeals) [5]

Tool Flash appeals

Action Transfer

Description

Theoretically function as quick-release HRPs because they do not require a needs assessment for either a sudden-onset emergency (like an earthquake or tsunami) or a shift in a protracted situation (like tactical changes in a conflict zone).

Pre-Agreed? No

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) \$2,276 million (Humanitarian response plans and flash appeals)

Tool Central Emergency Response Fund

Action

Transfer

Description

Pools contributions from donors into a single fund with a target of \$450 million annually. The CERF's original purpose is very valuable: to finance many of the underfunded or forgotten crises that do not make headlines. CERF funds contribute to HRPs and flash appeals.

Pre-Agreed? No

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) \$48 million

Tool Country-based pooled funds

Action Transfer

Description

Financing instruments (including the Common Humanitarian Funds and Emergency Response Funds) for specific countries facing crisis. As of 2016, CBPFs were operating in 18 countries. [6] CBPFs contribute to HRPs and flash appeals.

Pre-Agreed? No

Ave. Spending, 2010–15 (Millions USD) \$44 million [7]

Of these, the CERF is the most flexible; it can be used for any type of emergency in any country, and funds from the CERF and country-based pooled funds can be used to fulfill flash appeals and other response plans. The four budget lines are filled by donor countries and private sector donors, with some actors plainly dominant. In 2016, private donors provided roughly 7 percent of funding for natural disasters, while over a third came from the US government. [8]
Notes

[1] Birdsall, Rojas-Suarez, and Diofasi, 2017.

[2] We classify the IRM as not pre-agreed. The requirements to be eligible to receive IRM funding are agreed on ex-ante including (1) establishment in selected IDA project documents a "contingent emergency response component" and (2) adoption of an IRM Operations Manual. The amount of funding and the uses of the funding are not agreed on in advance, however, so in practice establishing that certain projects are IRM eligible does little to help countries plan for emergencies.

[3] According to CGD's research, there was only one disbursement of IRM between 2010 and 2015, to Myanmar for \$32 million in 2015. Given that the IRM was established in 2011 and few countries have gone through the necessary ex-ante steps to make IDA projects IRM eligible, we exclude IRM funding from our calculations of average spending.

[4] We include only the RCF in this estimate, as lower-income countries that are eligible will use this option because it is concessional while RFI is at market rates. Best attempts have been made to include all disbursements of the RCF in this calculation. This number may be interpreted, however, as a slight underestimate if any disbursements did not appear in formal IMF press releases.

[5] The Central Emergency Response Fund and the country-based pooled funds contribute to humanitarian response plans and flash appeals. Hence, the three values given in this table are not mutually exclusive.

[6] United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance (OCHA), 2016a.

[7] Country-based pooled funds are tracked by country. Funding data do not indicate whether they were used for a natural disaster or not since by definition these funds can be used for many purposes of need in each country. There was a yearly average of \$442 million of funding for the CBPF from 2010 to 2015. We apply the assumption that approximately 10 percent of CBPFs were used for natural disasters during this period because that is roughly the rate at which CERF funds were used.

[8] United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance, 2016b.

Annex B: The Insurability of Disaster Aid

There are three broad reasons to privilege pre-agreed credit or paying for risk transfer to insurers, or both: contracts, rules, and risk management.

- **Contracts:** A starting point for the analysis is that ex-post aid demonstrates the limits of our ability to commit to financing future liabilities. If the donor community were to accept risk transfer for pre-agreed financing, it would imply arrangements like, "USAID agrees to pay \$20 million to Malawi's Ministry of Health in case a zootropic fever outbreak affecting 20 or more people is detected."
- **Budget rules:** Those arrangements, in turn, would require donor agencies or multilateral facilities like the World Health Organization (WHO) to hold contingent liabilities on their balance sheets. Most cannot do this, for the eminently sensible public finance reason that we do not want agencies to be able to make promises they cannot keep.
- **Risk management:** If donors were able to finance risks, they would either have to keep all the money needed on their budgets or retain only enough to cover their expected costs. The first approach would be very expensive; holding money against the future means we must spend less on issues like global health or governance reform. The second demands that donors hold *just enough* money to balance a portfolio of risks. That expertise rests with the insurance sector. Donors would struggle to develop a comparable capital management specialisation.

In short, this is a better way for donors to design their support. It would catalyse smarter planning, and it could help to align incentives for investments in resilience (better flood protection and zoning, rather than repeated post-flood emergencies, for example). This section sets out the reasoning in full.

A simple way to conceptualise the benefit of risk transfer is based on how insurance premiums are set: they reflect the expected cost of an insurance contract, the cost of making money available when the contract is called, the expenses of administering the contract, and a profit margin. To set a premium, the insurance sector has been forced to develop finely tuned models of the expected cost of catastrophes. The cost of \$100 in cover for a cyclone hitting the Solomon Islands, which has a 10 percent chance of occurring, must be at least \$10 (to which insurers add the cost of holding money against this risk, and various transactions costs like claims settlement). Getting risk modeling right is essential, not incidental—insurers that get the probability wrong lose money.

The insurer, in turn, must pay if that cyclone makes landfall. By promising to honour a contract, an insurer creates a commercial liability and must have money available against the possibility. (The regulatory requirement is generally that insurance firms' portfolios—in contrast to donors' promises—have to be resilient at least to "1 in 200" losses.) The larger the potential payout and the more expensive it is to meet the regulatory requirement, the higher the cost of capital, and so the higher the potential premium. Again, all this follows only because insurers have an explicit requirement to pay against pre-agreed future costs, and so have very clear legal and commercial incentives to make sure they are solvent when the time comes.

Measures of risk and the cost of holding capital are simply contributing factors; in the absence of competition, insurers would charge higher premiums and so earn higher profits. Competition in the insurance industry is the limiting factor that keeps premiums as close to the cost of capital and the cost of risk as possible. In part, this happens because of the unique role brokers play. Insurance brokers, in effect, earn commissions by matching people willing to pay premiums to transfer risk with insurers that earn the premiums in exchange for holding their risks. [1]

Faced with a particular potential risk ranging from flooding in Malawi to drought in the Sahel, risk modeling asserts the likelihood the hazard will materialise and the costs it might inflict. Armed with this understanding of the contingent liability, brokers enable the public sector to outsource the problem of finding the lowest price for the best contract. This is simplistic, of course. We must be watchful for anticompetitive collaboration between these supposedly independent intermediaries and insurers, and agencies and donors must have a clear-eyed, independent view of the kinds of risks that are predictable and, for costs they need to transfer, insurable. But the general point is that risk modeling and brokers help to overcome gaps in information and market making that would otherwise stymie our ability to improve disaster assistance by preagreeing funding for response.

Finally, in contrast to the implicit contract between aid recipients and the global public sector, insurance contracts set out explicitly when they will (and will not) pay out. These contracts can, therefore, be specifically tailored to the situation by using external, observable triggers, such as Richter-scale readings for the violence of earthquakes or rainfall for early warning of drought. So-called parametric triggers are the easiest to calculate based on natural science data.

Take the example of Hurricane Katrina making landfall in New Orleans. A contract based on a parametric trigger of wind speeds of 209–251 km/h (a category 4 hurricane) would pay out immediately, based on publicly available satellite and other meteorological data. Satellite data reporting a hurricane's wind speed are transparent and publicly available. When a variable exceeds an agreed threshold, the contract's clauses to payout are invoked.

Triggers for Payouts Vary by Speed and Basis Risk



Notes: Adapted from Willis Towers Watson, 2014.

Tailoring triggers to the kinds of problems faced by frontline governments and agencies is not a theoretical possibility. The sovereign risk transfer programmes we set out above rely on varieties of parametric triggers to ensure swift payouts, for example. And, as the working group sets out in its core recommendations, many agencies should similarly benefit from predictable funding for predictable emergencies.

There is an important caveat to making payouts contingent on parametric triggers: conditioning on a variable like wind speed creates *basis risk*, the difference between actual losses and the trigger. A low-intensity storm might not trigger a parametric payout, but it could damage a weakened sea wall, causing flooding; losses will be high without being covered by the insurance policy.

Donors confront three main concerns when they contemplate whether and how to invest in premiums. First, they are not sure agencies and development partners will get a fair deal or set aside enough money to cover the basis risk of insurance contracts. This can be tackled by requiring set-asides in exchange for premium support and ensuring access to high-quality technical advice (as the working group has also recommended).

Second, there are concerns about aid spending being used to procure services from the private sector. Spending taxpayers' money to support development outcomes by using the private sector is not new. We want to immunise children, but policymakers should not put on lab coats. We know building infrastructure unlocks growth, but development economists should not lay tarmac. The insurance industry has a single specialisation—to deliver on contractual commitments to pay out when things go wrong. This service can disrupt our learned habit of treating disasters like surprises with something much more effective.

Finally, there are political concerns that premiums will support payouts to agencies that are underperforming or national authorities that do not have political legitimacy. What will happen when OECD donors have supported insurance for a regime that is subsequently found to be conducting illegal land grabs? The working group concluded this was a misleading complaint. Since cover is conditional on premiums, supporting payments gives funders a way to create reasonable expectations on the insured that are managed by contracts to which the insured agrees. Inserting simple, transparent, and mutually agreed clauses on observing human rights, for example, is entirely feasible—and defensible for donors.

Notes

^[1] There are 65 insurers and reinsurers and more than 200 brokers in the City of London alone. Her Majesty's Treasury (HMT), 2016.